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Monday, June 9, 2008

--- Upon commencing at 9:33 a.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.


Mr. Penny, before we start, Mr. Rupert had some questions of clarification with respect to some of the undertakings, the first of which I think was at page 31 of day 7.  I am going to let him deal with that with you directly.

Preliminary matters:


MR. RUPERT:  You recall, Mr. Penny, on day 7, page 31 -- this was concerning the calculation of the net revenues from Bruce that get credited against the payment amounts for Pickering and Darlington, two things.  First, I had forgotten actually that I think you folks had undertaken to look at what you could do and get back to us at some point.  I just wanted to check that.


The reason I am raising it this morning, actually, is expanding or modifying the request a little bit.  In reading some material for this panel here, I sort of realized something I didn't realize before, which is an additional aspect of Bruce that I thought perhaps you could deal with in this analysis of the profit.


I gather, from looking at 2006 financial statements, that the revenue from the Bruce lease is accounted for on a cash basis as opposed to an accrual basis that a normal commercial company would follow.


If I recall the numbers from the 2006 statements, at least, the cumulative effect to the end of that year was over $30 million lower revenue recorded than would be recorded under ordinary commercial GAAP.  


I don't think the 2007 financial statements indicated the impact for that year.  


But I guess two things.  I think now, more than ever, it would be nice to have for 2007, and I think 2008 and 2009, if possible, the calculation of the net revenue contribution from the Bruce assets computed on a conventional GAAP basis that an unregulated entity would follow, and if it makes sense - it probably does - to then go further and detail the adjustments the company proposes to make to that basis of accounting to arrive at what it believes is the appropriate net revenue from Bruce to be credited against the other payment amounts.


MR. PENNY:  Yes, Mr. Rupert.


With respect to the general issue, I did neglect to say on the record that we thought we could do something.  I think I mentioned to Ms. Campbell at the end of the day that we could.  We will do the best we can with respect to this additional request.  I know that one is in the works and close to completion, so your request is timely.


MR. RUPERT:  Thank you.


MR. BATTISTA:  That will be undertaking J8.1.

UNDERTAKING NO. J8.1:  CALCULATION OF THE NET REVENUE CONTRIBUTION FROM THE BRUCE ASSETS COMPUTED ON A CONVENTIONAL GAAP BASIS FOR 2007, 2008 AND 2009.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Penny.


MR. PENNY:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Before proceeding with today's panel, I just wanted to note for the record that we filed, I think Friday, and this morning in hard copy, undertakings J4.2 -- answers to undertaking J4.2, J5.1, J5.7, J5.8, J6.2, J6.3, J7.1 and J7.3.


We have, today, the corporate and other operating costs panel, so I would ask for those who have not already been sworn to come forward.

ONTARIO POWER GENERATION - PANEL 9 - CORPORATE AND OTHER OPERATING COSTS


Neil Brydon, Previously Sworn


Robin Heard, Sworn


Lorraine Irvine, Sworn


Tom Staines, Sworn

Examination-in-Chief by Mr. Penny:


MR. PENNY:  Thank you.


Let me start with you, Ms. Irvine.  You are very recently appointed as the vice president safety, wellness and total compensation, for OPG?


MS. IRVINE:  Correct.


MR. PENNY:  Prior to that reorganization, which I understood took place last week, you were the vice president compensation and benefits for OPG?


MS. IRVINE:  Correct.


MR. PENNY:  In your capacity as vice president compensation and benefits, you were responsible for managing the OPG's compensation and benefits for all unionized and management employees?


MS. IRVINE:  Correct.


MR. PENNY:  And you, I understand, have a BA from University of Toronto?


MS. IRVINE:  Correct.


MR. PENNY:  You have a master's of business administration from Queen's University?


MS. IRVINE:  Correct.


MR. PENNY:  You have been with OPG in your position as vice president compensation and benefits since 2003?


MS. IRVINE:  Correct.


MR. PENNY:  And I understand that, among other things, you are a member and faculty of World At Work, which was formerly known as the Canadian Compensation Association?


MS. IRVINE:  Correct.


MR. PENNY:  And the evidence in this case that this panel is speaking to includes evidence on compensation and benefits, and was that evidence prepared by you or under your supervision?


MS. IRVINE:  Yes, it was.


MR. PENNY:  Similarly, interrogatory answers that were prepared on that topic were prepared by you or under your supervision?


MS. IRVINE:  Yes, they were.


MR. PENNY:  Do you adopt that evidence?


MS. IRVINE:  I do.


MR. PENNY:  Mr. Staines, you, I understand, are the controller of corporate accounting in the department finance of OPG?


MR. STAINES:  That's correct.


MR. PENNY:  Your responsibilities in that regard include the controllership function and supporting finance, the CIO office, human resources, corporate centre and real estate?


MR. STAINES:  That's correct.


MR. PENNY:  And part of your responsibilities involve maintaining the general ledger and chart of accounts, preparing OPG and business unit management reports, preparing OPG's consolidated financial statements and maintaining the corporate cost allocation model for OPG?


MR. STAINES:  That's correct.


MR. PENNY:  You, sir, have a bachelor of business administration?


MR. STAINES:  That's correct.


MR. PENNY:  You have been with OPG, I -- well, OPG or its predecessor, Ontario Hydro, since 1982?


MR. STAINES:  That's correct.


MR. PENNY:  You have been the controller corporate support services from the period 2000 to 2002?


MR. STAINES:  That's correct.


MR. PENNY:  In your current position as controller corporate accounting since 2002?  


MR. STAINES:  That's correct.


MR. PENNY:  You're a member of the Society of Management Accountants?


MR. STAINES:  That's correct.


MR. PENNY:  I understand that the evidence relating to the corporate allocation and corporate costs was, with one exception, prepared directly by you or under your supervision?


MR. STAINES:  That's correct.


MR. PENNY:  The one exception, as I understand it, is that the evidence or the information that you used for the allocation of the IESO charges, that was prepared by Mr. Lacivita, who has previously appeared before the Board in this case?


MR. STAINES:  That's right.


MR. PENNY:  And you relied on the work that Mr. Lacivita did for the purposes of the IESO allocation?


MR. STAINES:  That's correct.


MR. PENNY:  Otherwise, do you adopt -- well, including that, I guess, you adopt the evidence on corporate cost allocation that has been filed?


MR. STAINES:  I do.


MR. PENNY:  With respect to the answers to interrogatories on that topic, you adopt those, as well?


MR. STAINES:  I do.


MR. PENNY:  Turning to you, Mr. Heard, you're the vice president of financial services for OPG?


MR. HEARD:  That's correct.


MR. PENNY:  In that role, you are responsible for OPG's accounting, financial reporting, taxation and financial processing services?


MR. HEARD:  That's correct.


MR. PENNY:  You oversee the maintenance of the company's accounting policies in compliance with GAAP?  


MR. HEARD:  That's correct.


MR. PENNY:  You oversee the company's financial controls and the controllership function?


MR. HEARD:  That's correct.


MR. PENNY:  I understand that you have a bachelor of commerce from Queen's University?


MR. HEARD:  That's correct.


MR. PENNY:  And an MBA from Schulich School of Business?


MR. HEARD:  That's correct.


MR. PENNY:  You're a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants?


MR. HEARD:  That's correct.


MR. PENNY:  And also the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants?


MR. HEARD:  That's correct.


MR. PENNY:  You have been in your position as vice president financial services since 2005?


MR. HEARD:  That's correct.


MR. PENNY:  Prior to that, from 2002 to 2005, you were the director of accounting for OPG?


MR. HEARD:  That's correct.


MR. PENNY:  You were involved in the preparation of the evidence on the corporate and other operating costs?


MR. HEARD:  That's correct.


MR. PENNY:  And that evidence was prepared by you or under your supervision?


MR. HEARD:  That's correct.


MR. PENNY:  Do you adopt that evidence?


MR. HEARD:  Yes, I do.


MR. PENNY:  With respect to the interrogatory answers, similarly, do you adopt the answers to interrogatories that were filed on this topic?


MR. HEARD:  Yes, I do.


MR. PENNY:  Mr. Brydon, you have previously been introduced to the Board and you have testified on another panel, so I won't go through your background and qualifications again.  But with respect to the accounting and financial reporting aspects of this evidence, you were involved in the preparation of that evidence?


MR. BRYDON:  That's correct.


MR. PENNY:  Similarly, the answers to interrogatories, you were involved in the preparation of the accounting and financial reporting aspects of those answers?


MR. BRYDON:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  Do you adopt that evidence?


MR. BRYDON:  Yes, I do.


MR. PENNY:  Yes.  Mr. Chairman, the estimates for this panel are fairly substantial, so I won't take further time in examination-in-chief.  The evidence is, I think, well covered in the prefiled and interrogatory answers, so we will turn the witness panel over to my friends for examination.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Rodger.

MR. RODGER:  Mr. Chairman, I believe Mr. Warren would like to go first on this panel. 

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Mr. Warren.  
Cross-examination by Mr. Warren:


MR. WARREN:  Thank you, Mr. Rodger.  

Panel, I would like to begin with a very general question about the context of this evidence, and it is this.

As I am sure you are aware, Ontario regulation 53/05 puts some -- gives some directions or constraints on what this Panel of the Energy Board can do when it is determining the rates in this case.

At various times throughout the course of the hearing we have talked about the nature of those constraints and so on and so forth.  

My question for this panel is, is there anything in Ontario regulation 53 /05 which dictates how the Board should examine your corporate or operating costs?

There is no trick to this question --

MR. HEARD:  No.  I think that we are preparing a response to an undertaking on that, as it relates to all of the evidence in terms of what we are intending to have relied on, for example, from our financial statements.

But specifically from the corporate group costs, I think there is just a couple of points in the regulation related to some of the tax treatments that we have done, but other than that, nothing's coming to mind specifically.

MR. WARREN:  Thank you for that, panel, and that is subject to whatever is revealed in the undertakings, in response to the undertakings.

Against that background, panel, can you and I agree that what this Panel of the Energy Board has to do at the end of the day is to assess the reasonableness of your forecast costs in these various areas, and to some extent, the prudence of the costs that have been incurred to date.  Is that fair?

MR. HEARD:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  And can you and I agree, panel, that in doing so, there is no baseline, if you wish, given that this is the first time the Ontario Energy Board has had to take a look at these costs, that there is no baseline against which the Energy Board can compare to the sense of having a prior decision in which they assess the reasonableness of your costs.  Is that fair?

MR. HEARD:  Yes, I think so.

MR. WARREN:  Now, against that background, panel, I would like to begin with a couple of questions that arise out of your prefiled evidence at Exhibit F3, tab 1, schedule 1.

Do you have that, panel?

MR. STAINES:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Looking at page 2 first, right at the very bottom, it talks about corporate initiatives -- sorry, under the heading "Corporate initiatives".  It says:
"In 2002 OPG initiated a corporate structure review to improve the cost competitiveness of its business and included a restructuring plan to reduce staff.  As a result of this initiative, OPG reduced staff by 1,450 employees, including reductions to corporate support staff of approximately 400 staff."

First of all, panel, when it says that the review was to improve the cost competitiveness, can you tell me, panel, the cost competitiveness vis-à-vis whom?  What?  What was the comparator that drove that?

Again, panel no magic in this.  I am trying to determine were there external comparators against which you were measuring yourself?  Did you say:  We're not as competitive as X or Y either in Ontario or the United States or Europe or wherever.  Is that what drove it?   

MR. STAINES:  I believe what drove it was that from time to time, OPG and prior to that even Ontario Hydro, had studies every so many years to ensure that its cost was in line with other businesses.  At that time it was due, OPG was established a couple of years prior to that, and at that time they felt, let's perform a review to ensure that our costs are in line.

MR. WARREN:  Panel, I am not aware -- and I apologize if I have missed it -- is the study which drove these particular reductions somewhere in the evidence?  Do you know?

I should say, first, is there a study or a report which drove these cost reductions?

MR. STAINES:  As far as I know, there is no evidence filed on this study.

MR. WARREN:  The question I should have asked you first is:  Was there a study which drove these, ultimately drove these -- resulted in these reductions?

MR. STAINES:  There were reviews performed by each function, each business unit, each corporate function within OPG at that time, to assess their own level of, I guess, cost comparative to what they felt was appropriate.

MR. WARREN:  All of it internal?  No external reports?

MR. STAINES:  I believe certain groups did have external consultants working with them to drive down to these reductions.

MR. WARREN:  Now, you have given -- not you personally -- but the prefiled evidence says that there were some 1,450 employees eliminated.  There is no translation, at least that I can find anywhere in the evidence, in terms of the total cost savings to OPG as a result of this 2002 study.

Do you know what the total cost savings to OPG were?

MR. STAINES:  I do not have that amount with me.  Again, it was back in 2002, prior to the evidence that is filed here.

MR. WARREN:  Can I get an undertaking to provide the information as to the total cost savings that resulted from the 2002 changes that are referred to in the prefiled evidence.  Can that be done, panel?

MR. STAINES:  Sure, yes.

MR. PENNY:  If it can be done, then we will undertake to do it.  I take it what -- I am sure, because it is 2002, there will be a certain amount of estimation involved in this.  I take it what you're looking for is order of magnitude, the cost savings that would be associated with that elimination of 1,450 employees?

MR. WARREN:  Yes, that's fair.

MR. PENNY:  Thank you.

MR. BATTISTA:  That will be undertaking J 8.2.  UNDERTAKING NO. J8.2:  To provide the cost savings associated with the 1,450-employee reduction in 2002.  


MR. WARREN:  Now, panel just continuing on the same page of the prefiled evidence, which is Exhibit F3, tab 1, schedule 1, go to the second full paragraph.  I see, given that it has been five years since the previous large scale formal cost review process, and may I assume that when they refer there to the previous large scale formal cost review process, we're talking about the 2002 review that we were just discussing?  Fair?

MR. STAINES:  That's fair.

MR. WARREN:  Then continuing the sentence:
"OPG decided that it was appropriate to initiate a support review function in conjunction with the 2008 business planning process."

Then if you jump down to the next paragraph, it talks about this corporate function review being conducted in two phases.

Now, again, panel, this support function review commenced in conjunction with the 2008 business planning process.

First of all, is this an internal process or have external -- have there been external reports generated as part of it?  Do you know?

MR. STAINES:  As far as I know, there were no external reports generated from this.

MR. WARREN:  And the phase 1 was completed in 2002 and there is some evidence as to the total forecast costs --

MR. PENNY:  Sorry, it was 2007, Mr. Warren.

MR. WARREN:  I apologize, Mr. Penny.  2007.

If I turn over to the next page, page 4 of 31 of this exhibit, I see that cost savings have been incorporated in various areas.


Looking at the first full paragraph on page 4, nuclear incorporated approximately 23 million of total cost savings over the period 2008-2009.  Corporate support groups budgets incorporated approximately 14 million in total cost savings.


And the number, I know that was in my head about 8-1/2 minutes ago as to the total cost savings out of phase 1.  If you could just remind me, what are the total cost savings out of phase 1 for 2008-2009?  I apologize, panel.  I had it and it's gone.


In that context, perhaps you could turn up an interrogatory response to a question posed by my friend, Mr. Shepherd's client, and it is Exhibit L, tab 14, schedule 53, an SEC interrogatory response, 53.


Do you have that, panel?


MR. STAINES:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  Looking at the second page of the response, it says phase 1 was completed by the middle of October 2007 with the number of the identified savings being incorporated in 2008 to 2010 business planning.


Then the table below shows the expected benefits capital 2008 business plan, part of phase 1.


I see that the total for 2008 is $20 million, for 2009 is $29 million, so a total of $49 million in savings incorporated in 2008-2009; is that correct?


MR. STAINES:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  And what struck me, though, panel, is that your sentence above says phase 1 was completed in October -- in the middle of October 2007 with a number of the identified savings being incorporated in 2008-2010 business plan.  Does that mean that there are some savings that were identified that were not incorporated in the business plan?


MR. STAINES:  I believe the $49 million is total savings to OPG, where in F-3-1-1 the savings are related to the regulated operations.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  So the -- may I conclude, then, that the savings -- all of the savings related to the regulated operations have been included in 2008-2009?


MR. STAINES:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Could you tell me, panel, what the status is of the phase 2 review?  Has it begun, and what does it consist of?


MR. STAINES:  I do not know the status of the phase 2 savings.


MR. PENNY:  Mr. Warren, I will say that Ms. Reuber has pointed out to me this aspect of the business planning, which is indicated in that interrogatory answer you were just referring to, which shows that it is kind of a mixed responsibility and the -- this particular phase of the business planning is probably best spoken to by Mr. Halperin, who is with the finance department.  He is coming up on the payments panel.


If you want to drill down in detail about this, I think you should probably put those questions to Mr. Halperin, but I think these witnesses can speak to the kind of general direction.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Thanks for that, Mr. Penny.


Now, one of the -- included in the prefiled evidence is the so-called Rudden report, which deals with allocation of costs as between corporate and various divisions; is that correct?


MR. STAINES:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  Am I right, panel, in my understanding that Rudden -- the Rudden report deals with the allocation methodology and offers no opinion on the amounts being allocated or being spent, is that fair, the methodology report?


MR. STAINES:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, if we could turn, then, to the corporate costs, and, in this context, if you could turn up the prefiled evidence at F-3, tab 1, schedule 1, table 1.


I would like just to -- I would like to ask a question not in all of these categories, but just a number of them.  Let me deal first with the finance category.


I see the actual expenditures in 2006 were $57 million and that by the end -- sorry, $62 million.  I apologize.  2006 were $57 million.  Actuals in 2007 were $62 and that will rise to 68.5 by the end of the test year; correct?


MR. STAINES:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  Now, if you could turn up, panel, an interrogatory response to an interrogatory posed by Board Staff.  It is Exhibit L, tab 1, schedule 37.


I see the question was asked about the primary drivers.  This was in the category of the CIO, which we will get to in a moment.


The finance costs, the finance department costs, has any comparison been done with the finance costs of other utilities, for example, Hydro One transmission or distribution, or one of the gas utilities like Union Gas?  Has any comparison been done of that to see whether or not these costs of $68.5 million are reasonable?


MR. STAINES:  We have had a number of benchmarking studies performed for finance -- for, yes, finance to compare to what they call peer groups.  So it could be other large utilities, like companies.


MR. WARREN:  Are those benchmarking studies in the evidence, sir?


MR. STAINES:  There is an interrogatory.  Interrogatory L-6-42 identifies the benchmarking studies that we have performed.


MR. WARREN:  That was L-6?


MR. STAINES:  Four-two.


MR. WARREN:  My recollection of having looked at that some time ago - and it may well be wrong - is that it referred to the benchmarking studies, but didn't include the benchmarking studies; is that fair?


MR. STAINES:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  Are those benchmarking studies available or may be produced?


MR. HEARD:  The benchmarking study, I think before providing it, we would just not to check on the release of that document.  It was done with Hackett, the Hackett Group, the finance benchmarking study, in particular.  So it is just a matter of making sure there's authorization to release that study.


MR. WARREN:  Subject to that qualification, Mr. Penny, can I get an undertaking?


MR. PENNY:  Yes.  I think we will want to review it to -- as we encountered this earlier with other studies, they frequently contain proprietary data which is not only OPG data, but data that is proprietary to the persons that are performing the study.  But subject to reviewing that and sorting out how to deal with that, we will undertake to come forward with either the proposal or -- or with a report or a proposal for dealing with the report.


MR. WARREN:  Thank you.


MR. BATTISTA:  That will be undertaking J8.2.

UNDERTAKING NO. J8.2:  PROVIDE HACKETT GROUP BENCHMARKING REPORT.


MR. BATTISTA:  Is this the -- on page 2 of schedule 42, is it the first report, second report or both reports?


MR. WARREN:  How about all of the reports that are referred to there?

MR. PENNY:  There are 11 of those reports.  I just want to clarify.  You are saying all 11?

MR. WARREN:  Well, I want the -- 

MR. PENNY:  Or is it finance?

MR. WARREN:  I'm sorry.  It is finance that I am interested in.

MR. PENNY:  Yes.  So it looks like the first two, that's HR.  So I think the only one that is focussing on finance is the one that we were just talking about.

So I think the undertaking is to provide the Hackett Group finance benchmarking report.
UNDERTAKING NO. J8.3:  To provide the Hackett Group finance benchmarking report.


MR. WARREN:  Panel, the second -- just looking again at table 1 in Exhibit F3, tab 1, schedule 1, looking at the category of corporate affairs, it is that the actual expenditures in 2007 were 19.8 million and that the forecast expenditures in 2009 are 31 million; is that correct?

MR. STAINES:  I'm sorry, I didn't hear the first part of the question.

MR. WARREN:  Sorry.  The actual expenditures in 2007 were 19.8 million and the forecast expenditures by the end of the test period is $31 million?

MR. STAINES:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  Now, if I could ask you to turn up an interrogatory posed by my question, which is Exhibit L, tab 3, Schedule 79.

MR. PENNY:  Sorry, L3-79?

MR. WARREN:  Yes.

MS. CAMPBELL:  Excuse me, Mr. Warren, before you start again.  Could you -- for those of us who are trying to follow along over here, it is somewhat hard to hear -- could you ensure that your voice carries towards the microphone, please?

We don't want to miss a word.  Thank you.

MR. WARREN:  My friend, Ms. Campbell is generally not that insincere that early in the day, but I've got both mics on.

MS. CAMPBELL:  Excellent.  Thank you so much.

MR. WARREN:  My apologies.  Do you have the interrogatory response?

MR. STAINES:  L3-79?  Yes, I do.

MR. WARREN:  Yes, okay.  Now, I just had a number of questions on this corporate affairs budget and it includes, as I understand it, the expenditures for regulatory affairs; correct?

MR. STAINES:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  Now, when I look at this, I'm assuming that included in regulatory affairs would be the cost of this particular proceeding, this particular application.  Is that fair?

MR. STAINES:  That's fair.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  And can you tell me whether or not any -- there were any expenditures on this proceeding prior to 2008?  Would there have been any in 2007?

MR. STAINES:  Yes, there was a small amount of money spent in 2007.  However, at that time it was planned under what we called centrally held cost.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, looking at the budget for 2008-2009 -– again, I am on Exhibit L, tab 3, schedule 79 -- there is a substantial spike from 4.6 million in 2007 to 12.4 in 2008.  May I assume that that spike is in substantial measure related to this proceeding?

MR. STAINES:  Yes, it is.

MR. WARREN:  May I assume that the $8.7 million is entirely Mr. Penny's fees?

[Laughter]

MR. PENNY:  I wish.

MR. STAINES:  Mr. Penny's fee is not included in this amount.

MR. WARREN:  Mr. Penny's fee is not included in this amount?

MR. STAINES:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  My God.

[Laughter]

MR. WARREN:  I'm going to take up his invitation to go visit his yacht.  Sorry, panel.  Humour at Mr. Penny's expense, cheap humour at Mr. Penny's expense.

MR. PENNY:  Probably the last time.

MR. WARREN:  Perhaps not cheap then.

All right, panel.  Then can I drill down into consultants and purchased services?  What does that cover for 2008?

MR. STAINES:  The majority of it covers this proceeding.

MR. WARREN:  Those, I take it, are external services?

MR. STAINES:  We considered all external costs relating to this hearing.  Yes, they are in that number.

MR. WARREN:  With the exception of legal fees?

MR. STAINES:  With the exception of legal fees.

MR. WARREN:  Just out of curiosity, where are the legal fees found?

MR. STAINES:  They're in the legal department's budgets.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  And the legal department's budgets are not covered by corporate affairs; is that correct?

MR. STAINES:  No.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  I'm sorry, am I right that the consultant and purchase services are all external services for, in relation to this hearing; is that correct?

MR. STAINES:  The majority.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  And is there a breakdown of that 8.7 million and who is getting it, somewhere in the evidence?  If it isn't, can I get an undertaking to get a breakdown of that?

MR. STAINES:  I guess.

MR. BATTISTA:  That will be --

MR. PENNY:  That was to breakdown the 8.7, to what level?  Can I just get clarification around that.  Conceptual level, or --

MR. WARREN:  I want the names of the people who were getting the money and the amounts.

MR. PENNY:  All right.  That will be to breakdown the $8.7 million by specific consultant and purchased service. 

MR. WARREN:  Right.

MR. PENNY:  Thank you.

MR. WARREN:  Panel, just while we're on that subject, I see that in 2009, there is approximately the same amount of money being spent on consultants and purchased services.  Given your answer that the $8.7 million was largely related to this proceeding and the reasonable expectation this proceeding will not continue into 2009, may I ask what the consultant and purchased services in 2009, what does that cover?

MR. STAINES:  We are anticipating a rate hearing in 2009.

MR. WARREN:  Sorry, a rate?

MR. STAINES:  A rate hearing for the rates beyond 2009.

MR. WARREN:  May I presume that the estimate or the forecast of 8.6 is based on the 8.7?

MR. STAINES: It's consistent with the 8.7, yes.

MR. WARREN:  I would like to turn, then, to the CIO category, so we can see --

MR. BATTISTA:  We should have an undertaking number for the breakdown of purchased services.

MR. PENNY:  Sorry, I thought we gave it one.  So that last one that we described, Mr. Battista, would be --

MR. BATTISTA:  This one would be, I think, J8.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J8.4:  To provide a breakdown of the $8.7 million 2008 consultants and purchased services budget, by specific consultant and purchased service


MR. PENNY:  Thank you.

MR. WARREN:  Turning to table 1, Exhibit F3, tab 1, schedule 1, in the category of CIO, which is chief information officer; is that right?

MR. STAINES:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  I see the actual expenditures in 196 --

Aftershock of all that LSD done 40 years ago, I guess.  

2007 actuals, 168.2, and 2009 forecasts of $190 million; correct?

MR. STAINES:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  That's a substantial spike from $22 million.

As I understand it, if I turn up an interrogatory response to a question posed by my client -- which is Exhibit L, tab 3, schedule 80 -- do I understand it, panel, that the increase in this category is largely driven by the provisions of the NHSS contract?


 Am I reading this interrogatory response correctly it is largely the NHSS contract which is driving these increases in the CIO category?


MR. STAINES:  I wouldn't classify it as the contract driving the costs.  It is more the need of IT services in OPG that drives the cost, and New Horizon is our service provider.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, the New Horizon contract was entered into, as I understand it, in 2001; is that correct?


MR. STAINES:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  It is for a ten-year term; correct?


MR. STAINES:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  And the provisions of that contract are summarized in an attachment -- sorry, appendix to Exhibit F-3, tab 1, schedule 1; correct?


MR. STAINES:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  Now, I take it we can agree, panel, that whether or not this contract was a prudent one is an issue which is not before the Board, because the contract has already been entered into; fair?  Is that correct?


MR. STAINES:  It was signed in 2001.


MR. WARREN:  And for example, there is a provision in the contract dealing with gain sharing.  As I understand the evidence, the gain sharing has been accomplished.  It's done.  There is no more gain sharing to be obtained from this contract; is that fair?


MR. STAINES:  The gain share provision has implications throughout the contract.  When the gain share period was over back in December of 2004, there are savings that carried forward in each year thereafter.


MR. WARREN:  Panel, I should have asked this a few moments ago, but is there any evidence that OPG can provide that as the Board sits here in 2008, that this remains a market competitive contract for these services?


Do you have any comparative evidence, for example, that would indicate that this is and continues to be a competitive contract?


MR. STAINES:  Again, on interrogatory L-6-42, we did identify a number of benchmarking studies that have been done.


MR. WARREN:  And that's the evidence you are relying on that this remains a competitive contract today?


MR. STAINES:  That's the evidence that we rely on that our total IT spending is in line.


MR. WARREN:  Finally, just in this area, sir, the overall budget for IT, how much of the overall budget -- this is, again, back to Exhibit L, tab 3, schedule 80.  How much of the overall budget for the CIO is related to the NHSS contract, the New Horizon contract, and how much of it is internal costs?


MR. STAINES:  On interrogatory L-3-80, we can see what the base cost for the New Horizon contract is.  There is also a portion of the project costs that we received from New Horizon.  I just don't believe I have that information of how much of the project cost relates to the New Horizon contract.


MR. WARREN:  Can I ask you for a breakdown of that, please?


MR. STAINES:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  Thank you.


MR. BATTISTA:  That will be undertaking J8.5, breakdown of Horizon costs.

UNDERTAKING NO. J8.5:  TO PROVIDE BREAKDOWN OF HOW MUCH OF PROJECT COST RELATES TO NEW HORIZON CONTRACT.


MR. PENNY:  No.  It is a breakdown -- I think the base is already broken down.  It is a breakdown of the project portion of the New Horizon costs.


MR. BATTISTA:  Thank you.


MR. WARREN:  My final question to you, panel, in this area is, looking at table 1, the corporate centre costs.


My only question in the corporate centre costs is whether or not the report of the agency review panel that was released in the early part of May, will that have any impact on the corporate centre costs, and, if so, in what way and what amount?


[Witness panel confers]

MS. IRVINE:  I am the person who has dealt most with the agency review panel, since it deals with compensation matters.


I don't think we can quantify, at this time, what impact report 1 from the agency review panel would have on our future costs.  It is designed to be implemented over time, so how long will depend on turnover of senior executives, for the most part.


MR. WARREN:  Do you have any ballpark figure?


MS. IRVINE:  No, I am afraid I don't.


MR. WARREN:  Panel, I would like to ask you a few questions on your capitalization policy, if I can.


In an interrogatory response to an interrogatory posed by my friend, Mr. Buonaguro's client, Exhibit L, tab 16, schedule 7, it indicates that OPG does not have a standard OM&A capitalization rate for projects.


Did OPG consider establishing a standard OM&A capitalization rate for projects?


MR. BRYDON:  I'm sorry, sir, I didn't hear the question.


MR. WARREN:  Sorry.  The question was:  Did OPG consider establishing a standard OM&A capitalization rate for projects?


MR. BRYDON:  It has been OPG's policy not to apply indirect costs to projects through such overhead rates.  Costs that are directly attributable to projects are capitalized.


MR. WARREN:  Is that policy consistent with the policy applied by other utilities?


MR. BRYDON:  I am not totally familiar with what other utilities do.  I am familiar with OPG's policy, is that it is in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles as specified by the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants.


MR. WARREN:  Now, in the prefiled evidence at Exhibit A-2, tab 1, schedule 1, I don't know if you need to turn it up.  There isn't much text there.

Is there a detailed corporate capitalization policy document of some kind that is used throughout the corporation?

MR. BRYDON:  Yes, there is.

MR. WARREN:  Is that document one that's used by your controllers and finance departments of the various business divisions?

MR. BRYDON:  It is used by all of the controller groups.

MR. WARREN:  There's also, as I understand it -- I am just trying to get at this policy.

If you could turn up Exhibit L, tab 14, schedule 8, this is a SEC interrogatory.

MR. BRYDON:  L-14.  Sorry, sir?  L-14?

MR. WARREN:  L, tab 14, schedule 8.

MR. BRYDON:  Schedule 8.

MR. WARREN:  There are two notes at the bottom of the answer, sir.  The first one says:
"Project identification is funded by base OM&A and is not charged to project budgets."
And number 2:
"Project initiation activities are funded from project OM&A, for both OM&A and capital projects."

What is the basis for that policy, sir?  What's the rationale behind it?

MR. BRYDON:  Costs that are incurred prior to a project being identified as being one that is feasible to undertake are considered costs that would be classified as OM&A, and not part of the capital project costs until such time as a capital project has been identified, with an alternative that has been determined as appropriate going forward.

MR. WARREN:  If I can, sir, just a follow-up put a couple of examples, so I can understand it.

When a business case summary for a capital project is reviewed and approved by corporate finance or accounting, is there time tracked and allocated directly to that particular project for capitalization?

MR. BRYDON:  Prior to a project being initiated?

MR. WARREN:  Yes.

MR. BRYDON:  They may be keeping track of the costs, depending on the project manager.  I am not familiar with the details of how each individual project manager would actually manage that project.

MR. WARREN:  If they do keep track of the costs, would they be capitalized or are they treated as OM&A?

MR. BRYDON:  Until such time as there is an appropriate alternative that has been determined as being and identified as a capital project, those costs would be treated as OM&A.

MR. WARREN:  And the point of identification of a capital project is after it's approved?  Or at some point prior to the approval process beginning?

MR. BRYDON:  There would be an approval at the initial stages, when -- after some of the preliminary work has been done.  But there may, depending on the project, I believe, there is also some authorization for spending for that preliminary work.

MR. WARREN:  Who makes the decision, sir, where along the continuum from initial concept through to approval to finalization, who makes the decision as to what costs are capitalized and what costs are treated as OM&A?

MR. BRYDON:  The actual decision and approvals are done within accordance of OPG's organizational authority register.  So that would be based on expected levels of spending for those projects.

Capitalization, the determination of that, whether costs are being classified as OM&A and capital, would be part of the work done by the controllers in the various business units, who would work with the project managers to apply those policies.

MR. WARREN:  This is a matter that is in the discretion of those folks?  Or is it according to the manual that you were talking about a moment ago?

MR. BRYDON:  It is in accordance with the policy, so they would undertake to know the facts and then apply the policy as to what those facts are.

MR. WARREN:  My final question, panel, and I don't know that you are the panel to deal with it, but it is just a follow-up to some questions I had for an earlier panel on the treatment of the Pickering A units, 2 and 3 and 1 
and 4.

The isolation project, as I understood the answer that was given to me the other day, the isolation project, the costs of that are being attributed to keeping 1 and 4 in service.  Is that your understanding?

MR. BRYDON:  Let me qualify my answer first by saying that I am only generally aware of some of the evidence regarding the nuclear projects.  It wasn't prepared by me or under me.  But I am generally aware that there are two phases.  Some of the costs are being incurred to isolate those two units from the two operating units, and I believe there are other costs that are being incurred for the nuclear waste management.

MR. WARREN:  Let me deal with it, then, at a higher level.  There is something, as I understand it, called a depreciation review committee; is that correct?

MR. STAINES:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  That depreciation review committee makes recommendations on the depreciation rates that should be applied to various projects; is that correct?

MR. STAINES:  It sets depreciation rates for the classifications of assets.

MR. WARREN:  And is that done on an annual basis?

MR. STAINES:  Yes, it is.

MR. WARREN:  And those rates, or what the depreciation review committee does is taken to the senior management for their approval, is that right?

MR. STAINES:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  And if the senior management doesn't accept the recommendations, what happens?  Does the senior management's decision govern at that point?

MR. STAINES:  Sorry, I didn't hear.  Can you repeat that, please?

MR. WARREN:  If the depreciation review committee's analysis goes to the senior management and the senior management doesn't approve of it, in whole or in part, what happens then?

MR. STAINES:  Well, it's reviewed for what's the rationale for not approving the recommendations, and the team, the DOC team would go back and review the recommendations they made in studying the rationale behind why it wasn't accepted.

MR. WARREN:  Now, is it the depreciation review committee that will ultimately -- that will make the decision with respect to the treatment of the isolation project of Pickering 2 and 3, and its treatment relative to 1 and 4?  Is that where it will be made?

MR. STAINES:  No, the depreciation review committee does not do that.

MR. WARREN:  That will be made by whom?

MR. STAINES:  That decision is made in accordance to OPG's policies on capitalization.

MR. WARREN:  Those are my questions.  Thank you.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.
Mr. Rodger.

MR. RODGER:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Chairman, last week I handed out another compendium of exhibits that I wanted to refer to, entitled:  "AMPCO cross-examination document brief, OPG panel number 9, corporate and other operating costs."

MR. KAISER:  We appreciate the assistance, Mr. Rodger.  Mr. Warren, you will get 100 percent of your fully incurred costs.

MS. CAMPBELL:  Not that you are prejudging.

MR. WARREN:  I guess I should have been paying attention when I lost a portion of my costs.  Is there an appeal from this decision?

MS. CAMPBELL:  Only if we can hear your voice.

MR. BATTISTA:  That will be Exhibit K8.1.  It will be characterized as AMPCO cross-examination document brief, panel 9.
EXHIBIT NO. K8.1:  AMPCO cross-examination document brief, panel 9.

Cross-examination by Mr. Rodger:

MR. RODGER:  Thank you.

Panel, I would first like to turn to getting an understanding of how certain costs are changing, and how the costs are changing with respect to the prescribed assets and your other unregulated parts of your business.  So I wonder if you could first turn up page 2 of the AMPCO exhibit, and this is also Exhibit F-3, tab 1, schedule 1, table 1, the corporate support groups and centrally held costs for OPG.


In this exhibit, we see that costs have increased -- total costs have increased, from 2005, from $567.1 million to, in 2007, $680 million, which is about $112 million or about 20 percent increase in two years; is that correct?


MR. STAINES:  That's correct.


MR. RODGER:  This exhibit that we're looking at, table 1, I take it that that captures both OPG's regulated and unregulated costs?


MR. STAINES:  That's correct.


MR. RODGER:  And then if we go to page 3 of the exhibit -- and this is Exhibit F-3, tab 1, schedule 1, table 2, and this is the allocation of corporate support and administrative costs for nuclear.  And we see in this exhibit that your costs -- your nuclear costs have increased from $356.2 million in 2005 to $446.8 million in 2007.  


Again, this is about a $90 million increase and this is roughly a 25 percent increase in those two years; is that correct?


MR. STAINES:  That is correct.


MR. RODGER:  Then if we turn to page 4 of the AMPCO exhibit, this is taken from Exhibit F-3, tab 1, schedule 1, table 3.  This is the corporate support administrative costs for your related hydroelectric.


Here we see costs increasing from 2005 of $27.6 million, going up to, in 2007, $38. -- 38 million, so we're seeing roughly a $10.4 million increase or an increase of roughly 38 percent; is that accurate?


MR. STAINES:  That's correct.


MR. RODGER:  Okay.  Now if you turn to page 5 of the AMPCO exhibit, and what we have done here is we've simply recorded the information from the three previous tables that I have just taken you through, and what we wanted to do is get a sense of how the nuclear and regulated hydro corporate support and central O&M costs compare to your unregulated costs.


So if you look, for example, at the 2005 line to your left, again we see the total of 567.1 million.  So what we've done, following on the right, is we've added up the nuclear and the regulated hydraulic, and that gives you a total of 383.8.  And we subtracted that from the total, from the 567.1, and that gives us an unregulated O&M cost of 183.3 million.


Do you see that?


MR. STAINES:  Yes.


MR. RODGER:  If we see how that unregulated cost has increased between 2005 and 2007, we have it going from $183.3 million up to $195.2 million, or a 6.5 percent increase.  Do you agree with that?


MR. STAINES:  That's correct.


MR. RODGER:  What we would like to understand, sir, is that what this page 5 tends to illustrate is that OPG has experienced much lower increases in the unregulated side of your business and much higher cost increases on the regulated side.


We're wondering if you could help to explain that.


MR. STAINES:  The methodology we used to separate the costs that are assigned or allocated to the regulated business and those assigned to the unregulated business, we tried to use, as much as we can, a direct assignment or a direct allocation.  


So if there are dollars incurred that are directly related to nuclear, we assign it to nuclear.  If it's an unregulated portion of the business, we assign it to the unregulated portion of the business.


There are also certain allocations that give you different percentages in other allocations.  So it depends on the nature of the expenditure.  So if it is mainly -- if it's, say, payroll-related or staff-related, the allocation could be either FTEs or labour dollars, where, if it's more to do with programs or projects, it could be related more to our OM&A capital spend and how that is allocated -- how that is split.


So when I look at what the reasons for the increases are from 2005 to 2007, I see that the total increase of -- I believe it is $112 or $113 million in that period.  About 25 million of that is really related to common-type costs, so shared services between the various groups.


The remainder of about 87-1/2 million dollars is more specific items related to business units, and included -- I have included in that specific item our pension and OPEB costs, which are split more on an FTE basis, which gives a higher percentage to nuclear than if we split it, say, on OM&A capital split.


We also have certain costs related to nuclear in 2007 for environmental-type expenditures.


MR. RODGER:  Now, given your answer about the different drivers, I'm not sure I saw this in the evidence, but given the disparity between the unregulated increases and the regulated, is there any internal check that OPG does to make sure that your current allocation doesn't result in a disproportionate amount of costs being shifted to the regulated side of the business as opposed to the unregulated?  


It just seems the differences here are quite dramatic.  Does this signal any kind of concern or alarm that would make you go back and scrutinize how you have done that allocation that you have just described?


MR. STAINES:  The internal process is that the allocations are performed by a central group working with all of the individual business units -- I mean, the corporate group.  So we work with HR, we work with finance, CIO, et cetera.  We will also meet with the controllers of all of the production facilities to go through the allocation methodology, how dollars were assigned, how they were allocated, to ensure that they're okay with what's being assigned to the business unit that they support.


We have also had, as in the evidence, the Rudden report, which indicates that our methodology is based on best practice and is -- comes to a fair result in allocating and assigning costs to the production units.


MR. RODGER:  Well, maybe I could ask you -- show you a specific area within the financial statements to see how this allocation has been applied.


If you turn to page 6 of the AMPCO exhibit, please, this is taken from Exhibit A-2, tab 1, schedule 1, appendix A.  This is the consolidated statement of income for OPG showing 2006 and 2007.


If you go down to the first line under expenses, operations maintenance and administration, you will see that the total for 2007 was $2,974 million; is that correct?


MR. STAINES:  That's correct.


MR. RODGER:  This is for the entire company?


MR. STAINES:  That's correct.


MR. RODGER:  Then if you go to page 7, and this is Exhibit -- from Exhibit F-1, tab 1, schedule 1, table 1, this is operating cost summary for regulated hydroelectric.  We see for 2007 the total operating costs were $445.2 million; is that correct?


MR. STAINES:  That's correct.


MR. RODGER:  Okay.  Then if we flip to page 8, this is from Exhibit F-2, tab 1, schedule 1, table 1.  This is the operating cost summary for nuclear.  If we go down to line 13, the total operating costs for nuclear were $2,453.5 million for 2007; is that correct?


MR. STAINES:  That is correct.


MR. RODGER:  I add up pages 7 and 8, the regulated hydroelectric and the nuclear, and I come to a total OM&A number of $2,898.70 million.  Take that number subject to check?
And when I go back and compare that summed number, the 2,898.7, back to the total expenses on the financial statement for 2007, total OM&A of 2,974, this suggests that 97.5 percent of your total OM&A comes from what I call the regulated side of your business; is that correct?  So the nuclear and the regulated hydroelectric?

MR. STAINES:  No, it's not.

MR. RODGER:  Okay.  Maybe you could explain what we're missing here, because is it fair to say that you're unregulated hydroelectric in the fossil base generation is about 38 percent of your production?  Roughly?

MR. STAINES:  I don't have that number with me.

MR. RODGER:  But as a ballpark.  I guess what we found confusing from this information is that about 2.5 percent of your OM&A seemed to be covering almost a third of this business, so if you could maybe help us understand how the numbers work here.

MR. STAINES:  Yes, I can.

If you go to, I guess it is page 6 of your documents, which is the consolidated statement of income.  It has the OM&A, as you said, 2,974,000,000.  It also has depreciation expense.  There is also income tax.  There is also capital tax and property tax.

MR. RODGER:  Mm-hmm.

MR. STAINES:  And also within our fuel expense line, we have an item called gross revenue charge.

So if you turn to page 7, which is the regulated hydro split, you will see the expenses are OM&A and gross revenue charge, depreciation, income taxes, capital tax, and property tax.  So each one of those line items, they do not go to OM&A.  They go into the applicable line items on the previous page on our financial statements.

So the only portion that ends up in OM&A from regulated hydro for 2007 would be the $125.9 million, which is line five on Exhibit F-1, tab 1, schedule 1, table 1.  

MR. RODGER:  Okay.

MR. STAINES:  And it would be the same for nuclear, total OM&A of 2023.8 goes into the OM&A line on the financial statement.

MR. RODGER:  Thank you for that.

So from, for example, page 7, are we able to take from this what your -- what OPG's total unregulated hydroelectric OM&A is?

MR. BRYDON:  Are you asking for the year 2007 specifically?

MR. RODGER:  Yes, please.

MR. BRYDON:  Okay.  If I could take you to the financial statements for 2007?

MR. RODGER:  Back to my page 6?

MR. BRYDON:  Actually, A-2, tab 1, schedule -- A-2, tab 1, schedule 1, and it's the appendix A, "financial statements".

MR. RODGER:  Mm-hmm.

MR. BRYDON:  And it would be page 50.  I'm referring specifically to note 18 in the 2007 financial statements, called "business segments".

MR. RODGER:  Sorry, where do I see the number for the unregulated hydroelectric?

MR. BRYDON:  Note 18.  I am on page 50 in the filed evidence, the segmented note.  

There is a table titled: "Segment loss income for the year ended December 31st, 2007."  Table headings read: "Nuclear, hydroelectric unregulated, hydroelectric fossil, and other, total."

MR. RODGER:  I see.  So for 2007, we're looking at roughly 189 million?

MR. BRYDON:  I'm looking under the column "fossil fuelled operations, maintenance and administration," 573 million."

MR. RODGER:  Okay.  Thank you for that.

Now, in your earlier answers, Mr. Staines, you talked about how, broadly, different areas of costs are allocated.

I gather that when you allocate first to the corporate head office, you divide into regulated and unregulated lines of business.  Is that my understanding?

MR. STAINES:  First thing we do is identify those direct costs in head office's groups that pertain to either regulated or unregulated businesses, yes.

MR. RODGER:  Then you do a similar division for hydro central office costs, again regulated or unregulated costs?  

MR. STAINES:  Yes.

MR. RODGER:  Yes.  You have talked about, in this panel and in other panels, about on the hydro side, the water side, you have regulated and unregulated businesses. 

I gather that some hydroelectric costs are allocated by volume of production; is that correct?

MR. STAINES:  I am not totally familiar with how hydroelectric allocates its common costs, but that is done within the hydroelectric business and within the hydroelectric OM&A.  It's not part of the corporate costs that are allocated.

MR. RODGER:  Well, let me just -- on page 9 and 10 of the AMPCO exhibit, we have attached a couple of pages of the Rudden study.

This is the basis of my question.  If you go to page 10, which is Page 5 of this Rudden study, "OPG centralized support and administrative costs, cost-allocation methodology reviewed summary of distributions," if you look on the left-hand column, there is various department activities, and about the third or fourth box down, you have "water safety awareness".

Then if you go to the right-hand side of the chart, "hydroelectric," it says:  "Megawatt-hour generation."

So that's an example of what we took to be how you showed allocations by generation volumes.

MR. STAINES:  Yes, that's correct.  We do do that.  I thought you were referring to the allocations within the hydroelectric business.

MR. RODGER:  Okay.  To get a sense of, again, the split of how you do this allocation, over on page 11, which is taken from OPG's 2007 annual report, it shows, it breaks down under electricity generation, regulated hydroelectric and unregulated hydroelectric, and we will see for 2006, 18.3 terawatt-hours was regulated hydro, and 15 terawatt-hours was unregulated.

That gives us a split of about 55 percent being regulated.  Is that a good ballpark?

MR. STAINES:  Sounds fair.  Yes, that's fair.

MR. RODGER:  Then in 2007 there is a slight change.  You have 18.1 terawatt-hours that was regulated and 13.8 terawatt-hours that was unregulated, which is roughly about 57 percent was regulated?

MR. STAINES:  That's correct.

MR. RODGER:  Okay.  Now, OPG, I believe, has six, what I would call regulated hydroelectric stations.  Is that right?


MR. STAINES:  That's correct.


MR. RODGER:  And you also have 61 unregulated hydro stations?


MR. STAINES:  That's correct.


MR. RODGER:  And would you agree with me that many of these unregulated stations have active water control structures upstream and are often used by members of the public for what can be potentially dangerous recreational activities?


MR. STAINES:  I am aware of that.


MR. RODGER:  And I believe, for example, there's a water safety program in the area of the Barrett Chute Dam on the Madawaska River, where I believe a couple of people were killed at an OPG facility in June 2002?


MR. STAINES:  That's correct.


MR. RODGER:  And would you agree with me that there is a much greater concern with water safety around your smaller hydro sites in those areas than, for example, Niagara Falls?


MR. STAINES:  I'm not a safety expert and where the greater risks are, I don't know.  I acknowledge that there is a risk at all facilities.


MR. RODGER:  It just seemed to us you don't need to warn people about Niagara Falls, but it may be a different story in cottage country where people like to canoe and swim near OPG facilities.  Is that fair?


MR. STAINES:  Again, I am not an expert in this area, so I...


MR. RODGER:  Well, again, we wanted to put this in an example of how you did this allocation.  When we read your evidence, we came to the conclusion that under your approach, Niagara Falls is paying the biggest or the lion's share of your water safety program under your cost allocation approach; is that right?  Is that really the practical impact of allocating by volumes?


Of course the concern here is that by allocating by megawatt hours generation, then it is the potential for unfairly shifting costs to the large regulated base load away from the smaller unregulated hydroelectric facilities.


MR. STAINES:  Your page 10 --


MR. RODGER:  Yes.


MR. STAINES:  -- with the cost allocation methodology of water safety awareness, the dollars were small back in 2006.


MR. RODGER:  I'm sorry, I didn't catch the last part.


MR. STAINES:  There were not large dollars spent back in 2006 within this group.


MR. RODGER:  Yes.  This --


MR. STAINES:  It has increased since then.


MR. RODGER:  At this point, we want to at least understand the principle and how this is applied.  So the conclusion that we have drawn is that Niagara Falls is paying the -- under the cost allocation approach, Niagara Falls is paying the biggest share, in this case, of the water safety program.


MR. PENNY:  Sorry, Mr. Rodger, the photocopy I have isn't very legible, but I think -- I don't know what others are struggling with, and maybe we would be better off looking at the original.


Under "direct assignment", it says that 64 -- 65.4 percent of those costs are specifically assigned.  On a legible copy of that --


MR. RODGER:  I think the difficulty, Mr. Penny, that we're having when we were going through the evidence is that I don't think we have anywhere in the record a consolidated list of the instances where OPG allocates hydroelectric costs between its regulated and unregulated businesses by production volumes and the dollar amounts associated with that.


Would that be the kind of information that you could provide to us?


MR. STAINES:  Let me just clarify that not all safety awareness is allocated based on megawatts per hour of generation.


Back in 2006, the safety awareness group were allocated based on that.  We also have safety water programs where we spend advertising dollars and post signs around communities, do community information brochures and things for water safety.


These are -- those types of dollars are split or assigned to where they are actually spent.


Now, if I could speak about the recent TV ads that we have had for water safety, we have split those 50-50 between the regulated and the unregulated business.


MR. RODGER:  Would it still be possible to get the information that I mentioned a moment ago, a consolidated list of instances where OPG allocates hydroelectric costs between its regulated and unregulated businesses by production volumes and megawatt hours and the dollar amounts associated with those?


MR. STAINES:  Yes, I can do that.


MR. RODGER:  Thank you.


MR. RODGER:  Undertaking number, please?


MR. BATTISTA:  That will be undertaking J8.6.

UNDERTAKING NO. J8.6:  PROVIDE CONSOLIDATED LIST OF INSTANCES WHERE OPG ALLOCATES HYDROELECTRIC COSTS BETWEEN REGULATED AND UNREGULATED BUSINESSES BY PRODUCTION VOLUMES, MEGAWATT HOURS AND THE DOLLAR AMOUNTS ASSOCIATED WITH THOSE.


MR. PENNY:  We will do that.


MR. RODGER:  Just again as a follow-up, we have included pages 12, 13 and 20.  The order isn't as it should be, but it's a follow-up from Board Staff interrogatory 58.


If you flip right to page 20, you will see there is a chart of corporate support groups and centrally held costs for OPG.  It gives a breakdown for prescribed and non-prescribed assets.


Would it be also possible to get a similar chart that shows the breakdown for regulated and unregulated hydroelectric, so breaking it down to the various categories we see under corporate costs, but for regulated versus unregulated hydroelectric?


MR. STAINES:  We do have that information.


MR. RODGER:  You would be able to provide that to us, Mr. Staines?


MR. STAINES:  Yes, we can.


MR. RODGER:  Thank you.


MR. BATTISTA:  That will be undertaking J8.7.

UNDERTAKING NO. J8.7:  TO PROVIDE CHART SIMILAR TO L-1-58, ATTACHMENT 1, SHOWING BREAKDOWN FOR REGULATED AND UNREGULATED HYDROELECTRIC BY VARIOUS CATEGORIES SHOWING CORPORATE COSTS FOR REGULATED VERSUS UNREGULATED HYDROELECTRIC.


MR. PENNY:  Just so we're clear, that is to try and reproduce a table like L-1-58, attachment 1, that shows -- that's restricted to hydroelectric, showing the split between regulated and unregulated hydroelectric.


MR. RODGER:  That's correct, Mr. Penny.


MR. PENNY:  Thank you.


MR. RODGER:  Now, I would like to turn now to the question of the evidence with respect to performance incentives that OPG pays.


For this area, if you could please start at page 14 of the AMPCO document brief?  This is taken from OPG's Exhibit F-3, tab 4, schedule 1, starting at page 15.


Here, there's various headings under incentive programs:   Goal sharing, management group, annual incentive plan and authorization bonuses and leadership allowances.


Just at the outset, how long have these type of programs been in effect at OPG?


MS. IRVINE:  Since its inception.


MR. RODGER:  Since its inception.  Just going down to line 18 on this page 14, which is page 15 of your evidence, but page 14 in our document brief, and it reads:

"Management establishes the mandatory performance measures and target performance measures for the site scorecards and determines the year-end results and performance score.  Measures and targets may be adjusted by OPG during the year if there is significant changes to the business direction or priorities.  Goal sharing results and awards are audited internally and are approved by the board of directors."


 Could I first ask you, what is meant by "site scorecards"?


MS. IRVINE:  The way the program is administered is that there are specific areas where we want to focus on within each site, and there are various performance targets that are dependent on the particularities of that site.


I believe that probably the best place to show this to you would be -- we've had some interrogatories on the whole score carding process.  I would refer you to L-14-70, which we provide from 2005 to 2007.


MR. RODGER:  Just to be clear, when you say site scorecards by facility, there would be a particular score card for a particular nuclear plant?


MS. IRVINE:  Correct.


MR. RODGER:  That may be -- Pickering A might be different than Pickering B, which would be different from Niagara Falls hydroelectric?


MS. IRVINE:  Correct.


MR. RODGER:  While we are turning that up, could you give us a sense of the individual factors that make up these scorecards.


MS. IRVINE:  Certainly.  Primarily, they're based on financial measure, which is reduced cost, production measure, which will vary depending on the technology in place.  There will also be measures of specific site initiatives, such as maintenance backlogs or other strategic initiatives that the plant may be undertaking.

There is usually an index for both safety and for environment, and these are calculated and if they are below the threshold, or above threshold, I guess, in the case of safety and environment, they're then deducted from the score for that particular plant.

MR. RODGER:  I see.  So we've got -- you have given a few examples here in the evidence, Pickering A, Pickering B as an example.  So we see that both the individual factors are different, and it seems like there are relative weights of the individual factors.  They may also be different, station to station?

MS. IRVINE:  May I ask which specific card you are referring to?

MR. RODGER:  Right now I am looking at Darlington.

MS. IRVINE:  For which year, sir?

MR. RODGER:  2005.

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.  In the 2005 scenario, you will see differences between plants and between weights.

As this program has evolved, under our current leadership, we have become more standard, to the point where, in 2007, you will see there is only one card for all of nuclear, with many of the parts being very consistent from plant to plant.

MR. RODGER:  I take it that 2007 was the year you actually made the changes?

MS. IRVINE:  We made some changes in 2006 and further changes in 2007.

MR. RODGER:  So I take it that you have also shown, again, looking at the 2005 -- and it is not entirely clear from the evidence -- but I take the very bottom series of figures that if -- these are like decrements to the scorecards, is that right?  That if --

MS. IRVINE:  For safety, environment and human performance?

MR. RODGER:  Yes.

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MR. RODGER:  Okay.  Now, if you could flip to page 18 of the AMPCO brief again, please, this was an undertaking from OPG, undertaking J4.10, which corrected an AMPCO exhibit.  We had -– or if you look at your chart, table 5, this has to do with nuclear O&M and production.  We see from 2005 to 2007 that your unit costs increased from 38.36 dollars a megawatt-hour to 45.79 dollars a megawatt-hour.  In the original AMPCO exhibit, we had that as a 21 percent increase, but pursuant to your correction, we see a 
19 percent increase over those two years.

If you can keep that figure in mind and then flip to page 3 of the AMPCO brief -– this, once again is Exhibit F-3, tab 1, schedule 1, table 2 -– and this shows on line 11 the performance incentives over time between 2005 up to 2009 planned.

Do you have that?

MR. HEARD:  Yes.

MR. STAINES:  Yes.

MR. RODGER:  What we see happening is that the performance incentives increased from 24.6 million in 2005 to 29 million in 2007.  So the 19 percent nuclear cost increases, our conclusion is they were not significant enough to result in reductions in incentives being paid; is that correct?

MS. IRVINE:  I believe that what you are trying to draw a parallel from is not necessarily correct.

The incentives are based on the business planning for the year, and costs aren't necessarily going to go down if you have bigger projects planned in a certain year, or so on, or if you have higher or lower production targets because of outages.  So I don't think you can draw a line between those two numbers.

MR. RODGER:  So when we look at the evidence on this page 3, and we see performance incentives increasing year- over-year between 2005 and 2007, and at the same time for the earlier document, you also see nuclear costs rising throughout this period, you're saying those aren't linked or those aren't relevant?

MS. IRVINE:  It depends on what the targets were.  If the costs were to go up larger and we came in smaller, then they may be linked.

MR. RODGER:  What AMPCO finds rather odd is that the one year, when you look at what is planned for 2008, incentives slightly go down to 28.9 million.  And that's the year when your nuclear costs are also forecast to reduce, to go down.

So, again, we found that was kind of opposite of what we would have thought.  We would have thought with costs decreasing, that is the time for incentives to go up.  And the incentives go down when your costs go down.  So we found it rather confusing.

MS. IRVINE:  Perhaps I can clarify, in that incentives are based on performance against expectation or targets, not against absolutes.

MR. RODGER:  Well, I take it that increasing nuclear costs isn't one of the objectives on the scorecard?

MS. IRVINE:  That is correct.

MR. RODGER:  Are you able to tell us, Ms. Irvine, under this scorecard approach, is there a price per unit of output increase that would be so high and so unacceptable to OPG that no performance incentives would be paid?

MS. IRVINE:  Technically not in the scorecards themselves.

However, all of the cards are reviewed and approved by the board and the board has the latitude to make any changes, either up or down, that they see fit.

So I can only speculate as to whether PUEC costs would factor into their calculation.

MR. RODGER:  You said both in your evidence and just a few moments ago that the OPG board of directors, they actually approve these scorecards?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, they do.

MR. RODGER:  And are you aware whether the OPG board of directors, did they ever raise any concerns about increasing nuclear performance incentive payouts between 2005 and 2007, when your unit costs of production rose 
19 percent?

MS. IRVINE:  Not that I am aware of.

MR. RODGER:  I just want to ask you generally about some of the prefiled evidence on benchmarking, the Mercer study and Towers Perrin.

I understand that Mercer did a total compensation review for the non-union employees, is that right?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MR. RODGER:  I take it they did not analyze the competitiveness of OPG's compensation formula.  It was just a total compensation review for non-union employees?

MS. IRVINE:  I am unsure of your question.  Mercer did look at the OPG levels of compensation within the structure and in the actuals, and compared that against the marketplace.

MR. RODGER:  Well, let me ask you specifically with respect to these performance incentives we have talked about.  In this hearing there has been a lot of discussion about the memorandum of agreement with the shareholder, the province, with benchmarking generally and benchmarking against the top quartile of nuclear operators.

Have you ever benchmarked your performance incentive programs to other nuclear operators?

MS. IRVINE:  It is a difficult task to do in Canada because the nuclear operators in Canada aren't particularly good comparators to our fleet.

However, you will note within table -- on figure 1 in Exhibit F3, tab 4, S1, that you can actually compare annual incentive rates against marketplace.  You can see what OPG pays versus what the market pays.

So we are able to do it in a generic way, but not necessarily against nuclear operators.

MR. RODGER:  Does the same answer apply for US nuclear operators?  Did you ever actually -- have you looked at how your performance incentives stacks up against theirs?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, we have looked at that, because we have a need to recruit US nuclear staff.

In general, our incentive values are much lower than they are in the US.

MR. RODGER:  Is there a study or a report that describes that?

MS. IRVINE:  No.  We just have the data produced for us by a couple of different consultants.  We do on an ad-hoc basis.

MR. RODGER:  And would you be concerned at all, if it turned out that OPG's performance incentives that you were paying, were paying out for a lower standard than those in the top quartile of top US nuclear operators?  

MS. IRVINE:  I'm afraid that's quite speculative.

MR. RODGER:  Well, would it be a concern or not?

MS. IRVINE:  I would have to be looking at comparing what they were measuring against versus what we were measuring against, to make a determination of whether that was good or bad.

MR. RODGER:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

Thank you, panel.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Rodger.

We will take the morning at this point.  20 minutes.

--- Recess taken at 11:15 a.m. 

--- Upon resuming at 11:40 a.m. 


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.


Mr. Thompson.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks, Mr. Chairman.  I had circulated an e-mail on Friday asking for permission to stand down to the bottom, and I believe other counsel are prepared to precede me.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Mr. Stephenson.

Cross-examination by Mr. Stephenson:


MR. STEPHENSON:  I think I am going next, Mr. Chair.


Good morning.  My name is Richard Stephenson.  I am counsel for the Power Workers' Union.


Ms. Irvine, I think most of this is for you.  I want to deal at a high level and very generally with some of the cost pressures that you are facing, particularly on the compensation side of your business.


I know that one of the major issues that you have identified, in terms of future challenges and a cost pressure, is the demographic issue in terms of the vintaging of your work force and the need to replace a significant portion of your present work force in the next few years going forward.  


That's an issue you have identified; fair?


MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  I just want to explore that with you a little bit.


As I understand it, this is an issue which is not unique to OPG, but it is present across the power sector in North America, at least to some extent; is that fair?


MS. IRVINE:  That's fair.


MR. STEPHENSON:  I also think there are some issues that are potentially unique to OPG, and I will explore those with you in a moment, but I want to deal with the generic issues first, if I can.


I know, coming across my desk, I see flyers for sort of industry conferences about the looming HR crisis in the power sector and power generation; am I right?  And you get that same sort of stuff, as well.  There are lots of conferences about this.  This is a big issue of debate across North America; fair?


MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  As I understand it, there is a variety of factors at play here.  One is the fact that companies in this sector have not, in relatively recent years, been hiring at the entry level as perhaps -- as much as they need to in order to replace workers that are going to be retiring in the next few years.


Leaving aside the last couple of years, and I know OPG has made some strides in that, is that a fair comment, that historically there has been a gap at the entry level?


MS. IRVINE:  I believe there has been a bit of a gap at the entry level within Ontario Hydro/OPG early days.  I'm not sure I would say that that has necessarily been a trend we have seen in other generators.


MR. STEPHENSON:  One factor is that -- certainly that there is a shortage or a perceived shortage, at least, of available skilled trades persons that are interested in entering this sector; is that correct?


MS. IRVINE:  I believe there's an anticipated shortfall of interest in trades, yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  There is -- also, I take it that that there are projected to be shortages with respect to, for example, electrical engineers in the power sector.  Are you familiar with that?


MS. IRVINE:  Again, we are anticipating challenges in terms of recruiting, but we haven't experienced them to date.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  In terms of -- are you familiar with, just in terms of dealing with this issue, an outfit called the Electricity Sector Council?  Does that name mean anything to you?


MS. IRVINE:  Yes, I am aware that it exists.  I don't sit on it.  Some of my colleagues do.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Can you assist us in terms of what is the Electricity Sector Council and, generally speaking, what does it do?


MS. IRVINE:  Well, as I say, I do not sit on that council, but my understanding is that it's a group of like-minded employers who are exploring the issue of demographics within the power sector.


MR. STEPHENSON:  My understanding is this is actually a group which is sponsored by the government of Canada and is incorporated pursuant to some federal program.


MS. IRVINE:  I don't know the specifics of that.


MR. STEPHENSON:  All right.  Have you heard of a program called Trade Up For Success?  Do you know what that is?


MS. IRVINE:  Yes, I do.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Can you help me?  What is Trade Up For Success?


MS. IRVINE:  I will refer you to the evidence on page 5 of 40 on Exhibit F-3, tab 4, schedule 1, in which we talk about a number of the initiatives that OPG has under way in order to attract either engineering graduates or incent young people to go into a trades or skilled trades area.


These are done -- these programs are primarily done with other parties.  There is either a partnership.  Trades Up, for instance, is done in conjunction with the PWU, and it is basically a series of materials that can be used to make both children and, more particularly, their parents aware of the benefits of going into a skilled trade.


MR. STEPHENSON:  I take it that the entire purpose of this is intended to ensure that you have an adequate pool of qualified people in order to recruit in your future years; fair?


MS. IRVINE:  That's one of the initiatives, yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Am I right, in terms of the number of people that you are projecting to leave the corporation and the number of people that you are intending to recruit into the corporation, that is a -- you perceive that to be a cost pressure?


MS. IRVINE:  Yes.  I think it is a cost pressure in the way that it -- it is necessary to ensure that wages and benefits are competitive within the labour environment.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And that is because you are in a labour market, fair enough, that there are demand and supply balance issues in that market, and, when demand is high, that tends to drive the price up; fair?


MS. IRVINE:  Correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  I take it you perceive the demand in that marketplace in future years to be, relatively speaking, high; fair?


MS. IRVINE:  That's fair.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Now, let me ask you this.  There was discussion earlier today about a restructuring that OPG did in and around the 2002 area, and about 1,450 people left the company?


MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  The question I have for you is this:  I take it that this issue about the need to recruit in the future, I take it that that was recognized as early as 2002?  This isn't a brand-new issue; am I right?


MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And the question I have for you is:  How is it or why is it that in 2002 you're looking to get rid of a significant number of people out of the company, whereas now you are looking at the need to be adding, to replace in the future?


MS. IRVINE:  Well, I can tell you that the planning for the 2002 VSP, our voluntary separation program, downsizing was done in a very specific and targeted fashion.


Certainly people were encouraged to apply to be accepted into the program, and not everyone was, but they were targeted by classification and by site, so that key job classifications that would be needed for the future would not be downsized unnecessarily.


MR. STEPHENSON:  One OPG-specific issue that has some impact, as I understand it, on your current vintaging of your work force is that OPG has, in fact -- and going back to Ontario Hydro in the last, say, 15 years, went through a number of restructurings.  I take it you are generally familiar with that?


MS. IRVINE:  I certainly am.


MR. STEPHENSON:  There were a variety of downsizing packages that occurred at various points in time, some of which were targeted and some of which were either untargeted or less targeted; is that fair?


MS. IRVINE:  That's fair.


MR. STEPHENSON:  I take it that one of the consequences of some of those earlier downsizings is that you lost from the company, typically speaking, a lot of older workers that are towards the last few years of their time in the company, and a lot of relatively new entrants.  And you kept the band more or less in the middle.  Directionally, am I right there?

MS. IRVINE:  I would say that directionally, most voluntary termination programs do tend to attract those audiences, those who are eligible to retire and those who do not have a lot of stake in being in the company.

MR. STEPHENSON:  What I am getting at, I think, at the end of the day, was that middle band, while it was the middle band back in the late '90s, ten years later, that middle band is the very band that you are now projecting at being retirement-eligible within the next few years?  Fair?

MS. IRVINE:  Fair.

MR. STEPHENSON:  One additional factor, I take it, that has had some impact, at least, in terms of your workforce and demand and supply of labour, is that in some respects, you're actually, at least on the regulated side, a bigger company than you were a few years ago insofar as you have added two operating units at Pickering.  You went from being an eight-unit nuclear fleet to a ten-unit nuclear fleet. at least from an operating perspective; correct?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  That's had some impact on your need, in terms of workforce.  Fair?

MS. IRVINE:  Certainly.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Now, the net impact of these sort of macroeconomic issues, in terms of demand and supply for labour, I take it you are not projecting in the next few years that you are going to be able to meaningfully decrease per-employee compensation on average in your business?  Am I right about that?

MS. IRVINE:  I would say that would be a difficult objective.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Am I right that rather than sort of staking your hopes on doing, achieving that outcome, you are attempting to do other things to more efficiently deploy the employees that you do have.  Is that fair?

MS. IRVINE:  That's fair.  I believe also in the past we have made some strides towards trying to -- how shall we say -- restrict the progression of wage rates.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  I just want to touch on a few things in that respect.

I take it that one initiative that OPG has done is, in the nuclear side of its business, there is now a hiring halt; correct?  Are you familiar with that?

MS. IRVINE:  The hiring halt I believe is for casual construction trades, appendix A workers.

MR. STEPHENSON:  As I understand it, there are two different -- maybe it's worthwhile talking about this, because there are, I take it that, just so people understand, in terms of capital projects that OPG undertakes, those are largely done by people who are not in your regular workforce; correct?

Those are all from building trades that are hired on for the purposes of doing that construction project.  Are you familiar with that position?

MS. IRVINE:  I am familiar with the concept, but I don't think that I'm in the position to state specifically whether there would be more building trades and less OPG regulars or vice versa.

MR. STEPHENSON:  All right.  Let me just ask if you are familiar with this issue, and that is, I understand in addition to buildings trades, there is actually a PWU hiring hall, whereby OPG hires persons not involved -- from the buildings trades, but on a non-regular basis.  Are you familiar with that?

MS. IRVINE:  I am familiar with that.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay, and I take it, from the employer's perspective, that arrangement provides the employer with a number of benefits.  I just want to review those with you.

Number one is, the employer does not undertake any long-term employment obligations to these employees; correct?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  In particular, they don't incur any pension obligations or OPEB obligations that you have to account for; correct?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Secondly, it permits you to have a degree of flexibility, in the sense that you are not adding a permanent complement.  You can increase or decrease the size of that workforce in accordance with your needs; correct?

MS. IRVINE:  I believe there are some limits on those needs, but yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  All right.  But certainly, much more flexible than attempting to change the size of your permanent complement.  Fair?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And another issue, I take it, that affects your compensation costs is your overtime budget or your overtime line item, if I can call it that.  Fair?

MS. IRVINE:  Fair.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I take it that, needless to say, you pay premium rates for overtime.  Fair?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Notwithstanding that fact, I take it the use of overtime is something which is -- management has made a decision about that.  In appropriate circumstances it is a cost-effective solution; correct?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I take it that part of that thinking is that, notwithstanding the premium rates, it may well be less expensive as compared to increasing your permanent complement; correct?  

MS. IRVINE:  That is correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Very quickly just on pension, as I understand it, -- I might be wrong about this, I think I am right about this -- OPG was on a contribution holiday for a period of time on its pension?

MS. IRVINE:  In the early days, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  That's come to an end; correct?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  You are now contributing and the employees are contributing; correct?

MS. IRVINE:  Mm-hmm.

MR. STEPHENSON:  As I understand it, you're actually, on the latest forecast, your plan is in a deficit, I think.

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  As I understand it, that's largely -- while these are actuarially determined, the biggest driver of that actuarial outcome was the decrease in long-term interest rates?  Is that right?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And obviously that is a macroeconomic factor, which is not within OPG's control.  Fair?

MS. IRVINE:  Fair.

M.R STEPHENSON:  I just want to turn to the issue, very briefly, of comparators and benchmarking, to a degree.

I know OPG has made a variety of efforts and had some difficulty on this issue.  Is that fair to say?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, it is.

MR. STEPHENSON:  At least from the perspective of compensation costs, intuitively, my sense was that Bruce Power was likely to be as close a comparator as you were likely to find, for a variety of reasons.  Do you agree with that proposition?

MS. IRVINE:  I would agree with it on some terms.  I believe Bruce Power does provide a good comparator, if you are trying to compare type of work, structure of work, et cetera.

It's not necessarily a great comparator when you consider its overall ownership and governance, which is another part of the puzzle.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  But I mean at least from this perspective, it is in Ontario, so it faces the same provincial economy that you face.  Fair?

MS. IRVINE:  Mm-hmm.

MR. STEPHENSON:  It uses, if not the same technology, a similar technology.  Fair?

MS. IRVINE:  Fair.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I don't know whether -- if it doesn't face the same demographic issues, at least it faces similar demographic issues?

MS. IRVINE:  We find that the differences between Bruce County employment and GTA employment are quite large, but for the most part, it is certainly the closest company we have, other than the fact that it's not regulated.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I was going to get to that in a moment.  But leaving aside the fact that it is a private-sector company, at least from the nuclear perspective, it is the under the same regulatory regime, in a sense, the CNSC regulation; fair?


MS. IRVINE:  Yes, it is.


MR. STEPHENSON:  But on the other hand, it is a private sector enterprise?


MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Is it fair to say that if you compare -- at least compared to the other non-Ontario CANDUs, Bruce Power is more like OPG than the other non-Ontario CANDUs?


MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Is that fair?  It is certainly more like OPG, at least from a work force and compensation perspective, than, say, for example, the US nuclear plants; fair?


I appreciate there is a wide range in US nuclear plants.


MS. IRVINE:  Right.  I believe that that was true certainly in the initial stages of the leasing agreement.  I believe the Bruce Power collective agreements have changed over time.  They're less similar to us.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Those are my questions.  Thank you very much.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Buonaguro.

Cross-examination by Mr. Buonaguro:


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.


Mr. Stephenson spoke about the corporate structure review and the elimination of 1,450 jobs in 2002.


In your evidence at page 2, F-3, tab 1, schedule 1, it talks about that, and it talks about there being 400 staff reduced in the corporate staff support area specifically; is that correct?


MR. STAINES:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, I am assuming from that that whatever your, I guess, head count or FTE count for 2001 was, there was a drop of 400 in 2002 as a result of the corporate structure...


MR. STAINES:  The drop took place over a number of years.  Not everyone left in 2002.  There were some people who left in 2003 and even 2004.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Is there anything in the evidence that shows how that was implemented over the period between 2002 and 2005?  I am guessing not, because you haven't put any information in prior to 2005; is that correct?


MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you provide that information, how the 400 jobs were reduced from your complement, and then how that played out in the numbers in that time frame between 2002 and 2005?


MR. PENNY:  Perhaps, Mr. Chairman, Mr. Buonaguro could inform us as to how that information would be helpful.


MR. KAISER:  Yes, Mr. Buonaguro.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, they've included this presumably to show that -- they have included the information about the 2002 restructuring and the fact that they reduced their corporate staff complement by 400 to show that their corporate staffing complement is reasonable.  


We want to see if it has been maintained, if that 400-person reduction has been maintained, how it is affecting 2005, 2006, 2007.  Are they just replacing them now, that sort of information.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Can you provide that, Mr. Penny?


MR. PENNY:  We can -- I don't know.  Is that information that you think is available?


MR. STAINES:  I can see if we still have that information.


MR. PENNY:  Perhaps we can leave it at this, Mr. Chairman.  We will see if that is readily available.  If there is some problem with it, we can let parties know.


MR. KAISER:  Can we leave it on that basis, Mr. Buonaguro?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, thank you.  Do we need an undertaking number for that?


MR. KAISER:  Yes, we need a number.


MR. BATTISTA:  That will be undertaking J8.8.

UNDERTAKING NO. J8.8:  PROVIDE INFORMATION AS HOW 400 JOBS WERE REDUCED FROM COMPLEMENT IN PERIOD BETWEEN 2002 AND 2005.


MR. PENNY:  I take it the object of the exercise is to try and relate the reductions discussed in that earlier downsizing to the numbers that flow into the historic and bridge years?


MR. KAISER:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.


Now, on the next page, F-3, T-1, schedule 1, page 3 the evidence states that -- I will read it verbatim:

"During the five years since the corporate structure review, OPG's annual business planning process has included a rigorous review of all business units' OM&A costs, with additional focus on spending by corporate support groups.  The corporate support groups are challenged by the generation business to rationalize their costs and justify the level of support provided to the production units."


I would like to focus on the last sentence:

"The corporate support groups are challenged by the generation business to rationalize their costs and justify the level of support provided to the production units."  


Exactly how does that happen?


MR. STAINES:  There have been meetings held with the leaders of the corporate support groups where they meet with the leaders of the production units, like leaders of nuclear, leaders of hydroelectric, and present their business plans, how they plan to spend their money, how they plan to support these production units.  And there's a dialogue that goes on between the two.


Those meetings have taken place at time to time during business planning time.  As well, we have certain committees set up within the organization.


For example, our CIO organization, there is -- who spend and manage our IT expenditures, they have IT committees with each production unit and discuss the expenditures, the projects that are planned and have been executed from time to time.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, is there specific push back from the production units on the corporate support groups to reduce their costs?


MR. STAINES:  There has been.


MR. BUONAGURO:  How exactly does that work?


MR. STAINES:  Well, during these discussions, these committees, these presentations, there has been push back on why certain costs are being spent, why a certain level of support is required for these production units.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Between the two groups, how do they come to a resolution of what level of support is actually going to be provided?


MR. STAINES:  Although I haven't been attending these meetings, it is normally between the group and the production unit.


At times, the leaders of the production groups are the one who drive what support they require, and it has to be all justified.


At times the COO, chief operating officer, has intervened on some of these occasions in business planning meetings and gave a resolution to the dialogue between the head office groups and the production units.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.


Now, earlier this morning, in response to questions I believe from Mr. Rodger, you were asked about -- the panel was asked about the -- I guess the escalation in the regulated part of the business versus the escalation in the unregulated part of the business with respect to allocated costs.


The conclusion he was drawing from the evidence, as it existed on the record before today, was that the unregulated part of the allocation was escalating at a slower rate than the regulated part.


Do you remember that --


MR. STAINES:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  -- discussion this morning?


MR. STAINES:  Yes, I do.


MR. BUONAGURO:  The answer that you gave or that the panel gave was that that was probable due -- correct me if I am mischaracterizing, but was probably due to the fact that there were large numbers of direct allocations to the regulated portion of the business which didn't necessarily line up with sort the general escalation of costs overall.


MR. STAINES:  It is not "probably."  It is related to direct allocations to the regulated business.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So if I can take you to F-3, tab 1, schedule 1, and this will be tables 2 and 3, so table 2 being the nuclear allocation of corporate support and table 3 being the regulated hydroelectric.


My understanding of that answer is that if you look at the total, for example, line 15 on both tables, and we were to break out that amount between direct allocations and, I guess, regular allocations under the allocation methodology, that the -- I guess the trend for the direct will show the sharper increase in allocated costs over time, whereas the -- I guess the normal allocation or -- I don't know how you refer to it -- the indirect allocation costs would be closer to the unregulated part of the business; is that correct?


MR. STAINES:  It would be fairly consistent.  The shared allocation, of course, would be fairly consistent between the regulated and the unregulated business.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Is there somewhere in the evidence where that breakdown occurs at this sort of high level, or is it something we can add to this table?

MR. STAINES:  If we look at table -- Exhibit F-3, tab 1, schedule 1, table 1, as we were discussing this morning, in the period from 2005 to 2007, if you look at the line 8 which mainly relates to the corporate groups, we can see we go from 355 million to 382, approximately, and that is about a 7.4 percent increase in those groups.

If we look at table 2, same exhibit, for nuclear, if we look at the line 8, sub-total, the corporate groups, they go up 8.4 percent.

So fairly consistent that the nuclear goes up the same amount as the total OPG.

And if we look at the centrally held costs, the items such as pension and OPEB, and mainly, it's mainly pension and OPEB from that period, the costs go up significantly in that area, and pension and OPEB costs are allocated differently than most of how the corporate centre groups allocate those costs.

Pension and OPEB is based on pensionable earnings.  If we look at the number of -- the percentage of pensionable earnings within nuclear and regulated hydro, it is a higher proportion than some of our other allocators.  So it is pension and OPEB that is mainly driving the disproportionate share.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Am I to take it from that, that you have actually identified a single direct allocation that is responsible for the differing escalation factors between regulated and unregulated, and that is the pension and OPEB-related?

MR. STAINES:  That's correct

MR. BUONAGURO:  The major driver, and that everything else, whether it is allocated on a direct basis or indirect basis, it is generally the same total escalation, if you, I guess, normalized for pension?

MR. STAINES:  We review all of the allocations on a monthly basis.  We do a thorough review when we do our business plan.

We look at various allocations, various costs, where they're spent, whether we can identify them directly or not, and we track it and measure whether they're within certain parameters.

We do, I can't tell you how many checks to ensure that we're allocating appropriately.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Those are my questions.  Thank you.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I think Mr. Faye is going next.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Mr. Faye.  

MR. FAYE:  Mr. Chairman, I have a document brief that I will distribute.

MR. KAISER:  Good.  Your name will go in the red book.

MR. BATTISTA:  This will be Exhibit K8.2, and it is the Energy Probe document brief for panel 9.
EXHIBIT NO. K8.2: Energy Probe document brief for panel 9.


MR. FAYE:  Mr. Chair, some of my questions may touch on the Towers Perrin report that was filed confidentially.  I am not going to -- I am going to probably cite numbers attached to various salary bands in that report.  I am not certain if the applicant would consider that the confidential material or whether that is okay, to do in an open forum.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Penny.

MR. PENNY:  With your indulgence for a moment.

[Mr. Penny confers]

MR. PENNY:  Sir, if I can just clarify, through you, Mr. Chairman, the data bands, or the salary bands that Mr. Faye is referring to, are those the OPG bands?  Or the bands that arise from the Towers Perrin study?  I think the issue -- just again so we are clear, the issue on confidentiality of the Towers Perrin is that they have proprietary interest in a database, which is the broad-based database which we have agreed to protect.

Obviously, the OPG is not confidential.  So it wasn't clear to me what Mr. Faye had said, whether he was intending to talk about the bands that were in the broad database or within OPG.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Faye.

MR. FAYE:  I am looking at a document from the Towers Perrin report entitled: "Position summary table, total sample."

On that are base salary, a lot of different categories of income, and a number of companies responding, the mean and the various percentiles.  It is that specific dollar figure in those various percentile columns that I will be looking at.

MR. PENNY:  Mr. Chairman, I think we can say that that's data on OPG versus the base, so I don't think that is confidential to Towers Perrin.

MR. KAISER:  All right.

MR. FAYE:  Okay, thank you.
Cross-examination by Mr. Faye:

MR. FAYE:  I would like to start with our page 2 of the handout, this is Energy Probe interrogatory number 10, in the evidence it is L-6, 10.

In this IR, we asked about the salary freeze for vice presidents and above.  We understood this to be a salary freeze that was directed towards repositioning those executives and we misunderstood that.

It was a cost-cutting measure.  We understand from the response that the category of senior vice president above comprises only 12 people.  I wanted to ask, does that comprise your entire executive, the thing that you call executive in your evidence, is that just these 12 people?  Or are there more in that category?

MS. IRVINE:  There are more in that category that would comprise what we would call the senior executives.

MR. FAYE:  How many would you have in all?

MS. IRVINE:  Right now?

MR. PENNY:  Mr. Faye, just to make sure we're not ships passing in the night, the question is:  How many people does OPG put into a category called executive?


MR. FAYE:  Yes.  Maybe to be more specific, in your response, (b) of this interrogatory, there is a statement:  

"In late 2007 salaries of senior executives of OPG..."


Those are the senior executives I am referring to.


MS. IRVINE:  Okay.  I am just referring to my internal data.  As of May 6th, 2008 there are, in fact, 12 in that category that comprises what we would call senior executives.  There are in fact 72 that we would call executives.


MR. FAYE:  You mentioned in the response here that you are going to start comparing your senior executive compensation at the 50th percentile level.


I wanted to ask you:  Where did you previously compare them to?  At what level?


MS. IRVINE:  Traditionally, since the beginning of OPG, our standard comparisons have been in two parts.  First, there is the non-utility comparisons, and we've generally been using the 50th percentile of that community, and that includes large both public-owned and privately-owned large manufacturers, unionized, those kinds of things.


We have also had a second group of comparators that are utilities, and again some of these are publicly owned and some are privately owned.  And we have been benchmarking against the 75th percentile.


As a result of the recommendations of the agency review panel, we are now going to shift our comparators to the 50th percentile for both sets, with a 50-50 weighting between public and private, and we're going to proceed going forward on that basis as of this year.


MR. FAYE:  What did you mean by 50-50 breaking?


MS. IRVINE:  The agency review panel has asked that we ensure that there is a 50 percent weighting for both public and private sector comparators. 


MR. FAYE:  I misheard you, I'm sorry.


Is that comparator going to be for your broad executive group, for just the senior executive group, for all of your management and executive groups?  Is there a distinction drawn?


MS. IRVINE:  There is a distinction drawn.  The agency review panel was dealing with senior executive salaries and certainly it has been applied to that group.  We're currently exploring, with our consultant, what the benchmarks would looks like for the rest of the non-union population.


MR. FAYE:  When you say that you are going to compare them at the 50th percentile level, do you mean that you will be adopting the 50th percentile level as your target compensation level?


MS. IRVINE:  That's a difficult question.  It's dependent on many factors where you might target, particularly for senior executives, depending on the labour market you are facing.  It is certainly the level of market we're going to compare against.  Whether we would target to actually reach that would be subject to a number of variables.


MR. FAYE:  What significance does comparing have, then, if it isn't going to end up being a target?  Why bother comparing at all?


MS. IRVINE:  Well, I think you can certainly compare the two numbers and provide justification for why they are either the same or different.


MR. FAYE:  So if I understand you correctly, right now you are probably still at about the 75 percentile level on the utility comparators?


MS. IRVINE:  That is the benchmark we compare against.  In some cases, we are on target.  In some cases, we are not.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  If we could go to that Towers Perrin report, which I didn't put in the package, because I wasn't certain that I could photocopy it with the undertaking I gave.


This is on page 1 of the total sample section, which I believe is one of the first sections in that binder.


MS. IRVINE:  Hmm-hmm.


MR. FAYE:  And I am looking at the various figures on here.  I just want to confirm that I am reading them correctly. 


This happens to be for the chief executive officer.  It is not intended to be directed towards anyone in particular.  I think I could have pulled a chart from just about anywhere, and this one was convenient.


If I look at the 50th percentile, and I run down that column and I get to the total compensation, including perks, I read a number of 462,340.  Am I correct in concluding that 50 percent of the sample surveyed would be above that figure and 50 percent of it would be below that figure?  Is that what that median means?


MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And this is for both private and government-owned utilities, total sample?


MS. IRVINE:  It would be a combination of both.  The participants are also provided, and the investor owned and government owned are listed under a tab called "participants" in the binder.


MR. FAYE:  Is it fair to say that the government owned, taken by itself, would be generally lower numbers than the numbers you get when you combine it with investor owned?


MS. IRVINE:  Generally, that's the case.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So we're talking about sort of the upper end here.  If you're a government-owned utility and you are comparing to this chart, you're probably talking about salaries that are in the upper end, anyway; would that be fair?


MS. IRVINE:  I am not sure you could draw that conclusion.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Well, we'll leave that aside for a moment.  I may refer you to another table in here.  But we're at 462,340 as the 50th percentile.


MR. PENNY:  Mr. Chairman, I'm jumping in now because Mr. Faye popped out those numbers quite quickly.


The numbers Mr. Faye is talking about I think are part of the database, and this isn't what Mr. Faye described.  And I guess that one slipped out, but I would ask Mr. Faye, if he can, to avoid making reference to those numbers specifically again.


MR. FAYE:  I think I referred you to this page, Mr. Penny, and said I would be quoting the numbers under these various percentile columns.


MR. PENNY:  I had understood that what we were talking about was where OPG stood as a percentage of those baselines, not the baselines themselves.


MR. FAYE:  So you would then say that this is confidential information?


MR. PENNY:  I think you are referring to confidential material.  If it's possible you could ask your questions without actually referring to the number, I think we would be fine.  The above or below part is not -- we're not worried about.  It is just the citing of the actual number on the record.


MR. KAISER:  We can do it one of two ways, Mr. Faye.  We can do it as Mr. Penny suggests or we can go in camera.  Which is your preference?  You can refer the witness to the page in the document and refer to the median number and hope they understand that you are talking about the same median number, and ask a question, or we can just deal with these questions at the end in camera.


MR. FAYE:  Perhaps I will try a more oblique approach here.  If it doesn't work, then I will ask to go in camera.


If I look in the 50th percentile column and I run down the page, I come to a total compensation number --


MR. KAISER:  Let's make sure they're on the right page.


MS. IRVINE:  Page 1?


MR. FAYE:  Page 1, position summary table, total sample, and the heading is "Chief Executive Officer".


MS. IRVINE:  Hmm-hmm.


MR. FAYE:  So I have a total compensation number applicable to the 50th percentile.  What I want to ask you is:  Where does your chief executive officer fall comparatively to that?


MS. IRVINE:  I think the best answer for that is found not necessarily in the Towers Perrin report, but probably in the Mercer benchmarking, which would show similar kinds of things.


You would have to look, I believe, at how skewed the Towers Perrin report was in terms of weighting towards the government-owned sector versus the investor-owned sector.  


But if you really want to understand our CEO's compensation, I think the best place to do that is to look at it against both independently so you have a fair understanding.


If I refer you to the evidence, Exhibit F-3-4-1, figure 1 and 2.


MR. FAYE:  Sorry, that was F-3, tab 4, schedule 1?


MS. IRVINE:  Yes.


MR. FAYE:  And was there a figure?


MS. IRVINE:  Figure 1 and 2.


MR. FAYE:  Do you have a page reference for that figure?


MS. IRVINE:  Page 10.  Oh, sorry.  I think that page reference is from the document from which this table derives.


It would be about page 41.

MR. PENNY:  For your assistance, Mr. Faye, they're large spreadsheets that fold out from the evidence.

MR. FAYE:  I am just on a laptop here.  I will have it in a moment.

All right.  I am looking at this now.

MS. IRVINE:  Okay.  In order to compare a little bit to the same kind of information that the Towers Perrin report is referring to, I think you are best to look at "total remuneration" which is in the far right-hand of the columns in figure 1, where we talk about total remuneration.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.

MS. IRVINE:  If you check the furthest right column, you will see that in band A -- which is the president's band and he is the only incumbent -- he is about 54 percent of the non-utility sector market.

So target market of 50th percentile, he's paid 54 percent of that.

MR. FAYE:  And this chart does not include utilities?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.  But if you flip to the next chart, which does, figure 2, and you look at the utility sector market, you will see that that number is substantially different.

MR. FAYE:  I am reading 2.96.  Would that be almost three times the comparator?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  Is that consistent with the kind of ratio that we would arrive at by using the Towers Perrin report that I was just looking at?

MS. IRVINE:  I think it would be fairly similar, yes.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  So when you say that you're going to compare at the 50th percentile level and you find yourself out of bounds by a factor of three, does that cause you any concern?

MS. IRVINE:  It does not, actually, because of the specific situation that we have with respect to employment for Mr. Hankinson.  These are all -- have to be considered on a case-by-case basis, considering the labour market, the pool, the availability of talent, what the incumbent brings to the position, and then the scope of the job.

I think amongst the utilities, you would have to recognize that OPG -- certainly the scope of the CEO job at OPG is much larger than some CEOs of some of the comparators used in Towers Perrin, for example, such as Saskatchewan Power, Newfoundland, New Brunswick; even Hydro One, ENMAX and B.C. Hydro.

MR. FAYE:  But isn't that sort of analysis already in the table?  When you survey people for comparators, presumably you have chosen folks that you think are comparable to you?  Would you agree with that?

MS. IRVINE:  That is the ideal situation within a compensation comparative document.  It rarely happens, though.

What you need to happen, especially at senior levels, is you are simply taking the data of the most senior person in the organization without regard to the differences in scope of those jobs.

As we go further down through the ranks, there is usually more adjustment made for scope.

MR. FAYE:  All right, well, I don't think I need to belabour the point.  I think you would agree that your CEO's compensation is roughly three times the 50th percentile comparator, so that a comparison with that carries a whole lot of other analysis that isn't reflected in the evidence here.

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.  And I think that most of that is probably public knowledge or been disclosed through the Public Salary Disclosure Act.

MR. FAYE:  Now, does the same comparators also apply at lower levels in the organization?  Your management professional ranks, for instance, where do you benchmark them?

MS. IRVINE:  They do, if they are non-union.

MR. FAYE:  And management professional are non-union or are they union?

MS. IRVINE:  There are some in those ranks that are non-union, and there are some that are unionized, that are members of the Society of Energy Professionals.

MR. FAYE:  Do you benchmark those?

MS. IRVINE:  We do try to get benchmarks for those but they are difficult to benchmark.  We employ a number of statistics like the, looking at the Professional Engineers of Ontario annual surveys, those kinds of things.

MR. FAYE:  If I could ask you to turn to page 7 of our document brief.


MS. IRVINE:  May I put away the Towers binder?

MR. FAYE:  I'm sorry?

MS. IRVINE:  May I put away the Towers binder?

MR. FAYE:  Yes, go ahead.

MS. IRVINE:  Page 7?

MR. FAYE:  Page 7 of our brief.  This is a chart from your evidence.  It's Exhibit F-3, tab 4, schedule 1, page 35.

I just want to make certain I understand what's being portrayed on this chart.

It's entitled: "OPG salary variance from the 75th percentile of market data, based on analysis by Towers Perrin."

The total, the variance numbers in the right hand column, I take that to be the amount above or below the 75th percentile in that study that the actual salaries for this, for each of these jobs, is.  Is that accurate?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MR. FAYE:  So if we take a sample, take the project engineer, starting at that line, that's about six lines down, and the next four, these are all engineering jobs?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. FAYE:  Starting at the fourth one of those, engineer developmental, 22 percent above the 75 percentile.

MS. IRVINE:  Mm-hmm.

MR. FAYE:  Do I just add the 22 percent to 75 and come out at 97?  Or it's not that?

MS. IRVINE:  No.  You would have to look at the specifics.

It's whatever the level was at 75th percentile, plus 22 percent of that.

MR. FAYE:  So that could end up being more than 100 percentile, if the numbers were correct, right?

MS. IRVINE:  No, I don't believe that's possible, but I suppose if you had a very, very high salary, you might go that distance but that is not what 22 percent means here.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  It is a significant amount above the 75th percentile though, is it?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, it is.

MR. FAYE:  And the rest of these jobs in the engineering band are similarly above.  Of the listings here in this sample table, there is 34 entries, by my count, and five are below the 75th percentile and 29 are above.

Would you agree with that, subject to check?

MS. IRVINE:  No, I wouldn't.  We actually did an interrogatory on this point, that was based on L-1-53, if I can draw your attention to that, where we addressed this very point.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  I have that.

MS. IRVINE:  So we were asked how did we come up with the statement that OPG jobs in general on that chart are slightly above average on an overall basis.  Above market, I should say.

Our response, particularly the second paragraph, actually delineates what we believe to be below, at and above market.

MR. FAYE:  Just scanning this quickly, do I take it to mean that you are attaching a 10 percent band on top of the 75th percentile number, in order to arrive at that conclusion?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MR. FAYE:  I'm not sure I follow the logic of doing that.  If you're comparing to a 75th percentile, why would you make it the 85th percentile?

MS. IRVINE:  It is not actually the 85th percentile.  It is just 10 percent above the 75th percentile

MR. FAYE:  Which would be 82 and a half, 80, somewhere in there?

MS. IRVINE:  It could be almost anything.  I mean the differences in standard compensation practices that we see, the difference between 50th and 75th percentile, for instance, ranges between for executives about 20 percent of salary, and for professionals somewhere between 10 and 15 percent of salary.

So they're not linear in that respect.

But the 10 percent plus or minus is a very standard compensation treatment to determine whether or not your numbers are, in fact, appropriate relative to the benchmark.

MR. FAYE:  The fact that it's above at all means it's above the 75th percentile.  Is that a fair statement?

MS. IRVINE:  That is a fair statement.

MR. FAYE:  Now, the actual amount that it is above, as I understand you to say, is more complicated than a simple application of some arithmetic here.

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. FAYE:  And it could be anywhere from five to 10 to 15 percent, depending upon the actual salary that we're talking about.

MS. IRVINE:  Mm-hmm.

MR. FAYE:  But just on the basis of comparing to the 75th percentile number, of the 34 entries, five are below, 28 are above, and one is equal to; is that correct?


MS. IRVINE:  That's not my understanding of the term "on market".


MR. FAYE:  No.  I am just asking you, of these 

entries --


MS. IRVINE:  Of these entries, yes, you could say that.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.


I would like to turn now to our Interrogatory No. 13.  This would be L-6-13, page 3 of our package.


Here we asked about the staff licensing process for nuclear operators and shift supervisors, and one of the features of your compensation package is that you give them a bonus in order to keep their qualifications up, in particular, to keep their licence.


Could you just describe what that licence is for?


MS. IRVINE:  Authorized staff within the nuclear stations are licensed by the Canadian Nuclear Safety Commission and need to write standard exams set by that body in order to be able to operate within certain conditions.


MR. FAYE:  And that's basically a licence to sit in the control room and control the reactor?


MS. IRVINE:  Amongst other things, yes.


MR. FAYE:  Amongst other things.  All right.


And the supervisors who have this licence, I take it, used to be these operators and now they're supervising these operators?


MS. IRVINE:  Quite often.


MR. FAYE:  So they are also qualified to operate the plant, if need be.


How much does the licensing bonus amount to?


MS. IRVINE:  The licensing bonus varies depending on the classification, and it also varies depending on the seniority and tenure of the individual incumbent.


So the authorized nuclear operators, which are PWU positions, can have an authorization bonus in between 15 and 28 percent.  The control room shift supervisor and the control room shift operating supervisor, which are classifications within the Society, they also are from 15 to 28 percent.


The authorization training supervisors are deemed to have a bonus worth 75 percent of those numbers; therefore, they go from 11.25 percent to 21 percent.  And the shift managers are a standard 14 percent.


MR. FAYE:  Some of this -- some of these positions are staffed with engineers or technologists that we looked at previously on that chart 9.  What I am going to ask you is:  Are those licensing bonuses included in the salary that you used to compare to the 75th percentile in your market survey?


MS. IRVINE:  In answer to your first question, I am not sure whether there would be anyone listed on the chart 9 that would have been promoted into a manager's position over a crew or a control room situation.


But I can tell you that the figures in chart 9 are exclusive of any additional bonuses.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  You mentioned in your response that the reason you offer these bonuses is to keep staff.  And I wanted to ask you:  How many staff have you lost to your competitors by way of them hiring away your nuclear operators or shift supervisors?


MS. IRVINE:  Well, I think that the answer really has to do with the amount of staff we're trying to keep licensed.  If they lose their licence, they may not leave the company, but we are wanting for people to retain their licences and to take the necessary personal time and training required to do so.


We have -- I do have an interrogatory on this subject, as well, L-6-13.


MR. FAYE:  I think that is the one we're on.


MS. IRVINE:  Oh, I beg your pardon.


Oh, well, then it is answered in part (d):

"Approximately 1 percent of authorized employees who require a licence allowed their licence to lapse each year from the period 2005 to 2007."


MR. FAYE:  Yes, I understand that, but I don't think that is the question I asked.  I might have misstated it.  What I was asking was part of your strategy, in offering this, is to retain your staff who can operate your plants, obviously.


I understood that some of the reason that you wouldn't be able to retain them is they would be hired away by other companies in the nuclear operation business.


What I would like to ask you is:  How many, on a percentage basis, of your nuclear operators leave every year to be employed by other nuclear companies?


MS. IRVINE:  I don't have the specific answer for that, but I do believe that in part A of our response to that interrogatory we talk about the fact that we're trying to retain people to maintain their licence as opposed to simply hiring.


In part B, we address the part -- the concern that you are raising, which is, if they are licensed with OPG for a particular unit, are they more attracted to other nuclear operators, and the answer is, yes, they are.  They would need to be retrained, but obviously they have a skill set that is valuable.


MR. FAYE:  So if a person loses their licence or just doesn't bother to keep it up, I expect there is regular maintenance activities that need to go into it?


MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.


MR. FAYE:  Your response on sub D says that they 

are -- it looks like they're relocated to other non-licensed positions in the company?


MS. IRVINE:  They likely will be in the same plant, but they'll just be in non-authorized positions.  


MR. FAYE:  Are you suggesting that if you were to eliminate these licensing bonuses, that all of your licensed staff would take up with these other non-licensed positions and you wouldn't have anyone to operate the units?


MS. IRVINE:  I believe that is a little extreme, but it's a potential, and that's what we're guarding against.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  I will leave that topic, and I would like to move to our Interrogatory No. 14, which is on page 5, and that would be Exhibit L, tab 6, schedule 14.


This one asks you some questions about post-employment benefits.  One of those questions were:  Do you provide them at no cost?  And your response to that question was, yes, you do.


The second question was:  Are they time-limited?


I would like to dig into that time-limited idea a little bit.  If I understand your response correctly, once someone retires on pension, they are given a basket of benefits that would include health benefits, life insurance, things of that nature; is that right?


MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.  In fact, they retain the same benefits they had as active employees, with the exception of life insurance and some of the long-term disability benefits.


MR. FAYE:  Is my understanding correct that they pay nothing for this?


MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.


MR. FAYE:  Not only do they pay nothing, they're life-long benefits?


MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.


MR. FAYE:  You mentioned that you participated in a Watson Wyatt benchmarking survey, and you conclude, from that, that you're providing more or less the same sorts of benefits that other comparators are.


Is this study in -- the survey in the evidence anywhere?


MS. IRVINE:  No, it is not.


MR. FAYE:  Would we be able to get a copy of that, please?


MR. PENNY:  Well, I think, Mr. Chairman, what we will have to do is evaluate whether it also is subject to this proprietary information issue, but as we, I think, dealt with this this morning, we will undertake to look it up, make a determination about that, and then, depending on the outcome, we can deal with Mr. Faye and others about how best to go forward.  


Obviously, if that isn't a concern at all, then we can make it available.


MR. KAISER:  You can let us know after the lunch break.


MR. PENNY:  Perhaps.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Could I suggest, just jumping in, Mr. Penny, that you are going to give consideration to doing what you did with previous documents, which is to file them confidentially?


MR. PENNY:  Yes.  I think that was implicit, and what I meant was we would take it up with others.  If that turns out to be the case, that is what we will do.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.


MR. BATTISTA:  That will be undertaking J8.9.

UNDERTAKING NO. J8.9:  PROVIDE WATSON WYATT SURVEY.


MR. FAYE:  Now, that survey, the Watson Wyatt benchmarking survey, you have noted that that does not address the life-long characteristic of your benefits.

You say that based on knowledge of other pension and benefit plans, your practices on this life-long benefit are similar to those of other comparable companies.

Can you elaborate on what the basis of your knowledge of other pension and benefit plans are?  Is there a study, a report, a survey?

MS. IRVINE:  No.  I believe that this is just an understanding of general practice.  Utilities, in general, tend to be -- provide life-long post-retirement benefits.  IT not a common benefit within the private sector, but it certainly is in the public sector where most of the utilities began.

MR. FAYE:  Have you participated in any surveys within the industry, either by the Canadian Electric Association or in Ontario by the Electricity Distributors Association, that might confirm that assumption you have made?

MS. IRVINE:  Well, we have been within the Watson Wyatt survey, but other than that, no.

MR. FAYE:  So I would ask you, again:  Is there any objective factual basis, other than your general experience in HR, that leads you to this conclusion?

MS. IRVINE:  Well, yes, I would refer you to the Watson Wyatt survey, but also it is beyond a general understanding of HR principles.

I am a member of a group of my peers from utilities across Canada that meet each year to discuss various issues that are of common interest to all of us.

So I am familiar with what some of the other utilities do.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  In response to Mr. Penny's interjection, which I appreciate, it does say, well, the question of time limitations of benefits are not addressed by the survey, and that was the purpose of me asking that question.

I would just like to refer you to the next page, then, page 6.  This is an excerpt from Exhibit F-3, tab 4, schedule 1, and it is actually page 26.  It lists pension and other post-employment benefit costs.

I just have a couple of questions on this page.  Can you guide me on how to understand the pension burden component versus the pension centrally held component?

MS. IRVINE:  I will defer to one of my fellow panellists to assist.

MR. STAINES:  I believe you're referring to section 7.3.4 of Exhibit F-3, tab 4, schedule 1, page 26?

MR. FAYE:  Page 26.  It's in the bundle that I passed out.

MR. STAINES:  Yes.  Page 26 of the evidence.

MR. FAYE:  Yes.

MR. STAINES:  The split between the pension burden component and the centrally held is that the pension burden covers the current cost of all employees at OPG, so the current service costs of each employee, where the centrally held covers things like past service, amortization, gains or losses.  It has in the past held variances from budgeted burden amounts due to the timing of when the business plan is approved to the time that we put a stake in the ground and say:  This is what the discount rates and inflation rates are.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.

You spoke to other intervenors in this cross-examination today on the turnover of your staff, the number who are retiring.  The total benefit, total pension cost, second line from the bottom, doubles between 2005 and 2007.

Could you explain how many staff that would take to cause that kind of a jump?

MR. STAINES:  The main reason for the increase from 2005 to 2007 is the change in discount rate, where in 2005 the discount rate was six percent, and in 2007 it was 5.25 percent.  Now there are other factors that do play into this, but the main factor is the discount rate.

MR. FAYE:  So if I heard you right, it was six percent, the discount rate used in 2005, and it's 
5-1/4 percent in 2007.

MR. STAINES:  That's correct.

MR. FAYE:  That accounts for almost a doubling?

MR. STAINES:  That's correct.

MR. FAYE:  All right.

The last question on this page is the bottom line, "OPEB".  These costs are rising as well.  Is it fair to say that once they get up to that level, they stay there for quite some time, that people have to actually die before they stop getting benefits?

So now that they're at 60 million in 2008, is that likely to continue for the foreseeable future?

MS. IRVINE:  I believe we will answer that in two parts.  From the human resources perspective, you are right in that people don't come off the benefits plan until, in fact, they're not walking the earth.

New hires will be coming on to replace those who retire, so there is every possibility that number would go up.

We are trying to do the best we can to mitigate those costs by carefully understanding usage and cost of benefits.  In fact, our benefits escalation has been quite low compared to other industries over the past few years.  So I believe we have a handle on that.  But the absolute number of people that would be covered, yes, is going to go up.

I believe my colleague has a financial answer to that question, as well.

MR. STAINES:  The discount rate impacts the cost, as well.

MR. FAYE:  Mr. Chair, Mr. Rubin has some questions, but perhaps, if you would like to take the lunch break now he could continue after lunch?

MR. KAISER:  All right.  We can do that.  Come back in an hour.  Thank you.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:57 p.m.

--- Upon resuming at 2:09 p.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  Mr. Rubin.


MR. FAYE:  Mr. Chair, I neglected a couple of questions that were carryovers from previous panels and I would like to just ask those very quickly.  The first question was referred to this panel from panel 1, and it involves Exhibit C-1, T-2, schedule 1, tables 2 and 3.


If I ask the panel to turn that up?


MR. RUPERT:  C-1?


MR. FAYE:  Tab 2, schedule 1, tables 2 and 3.


MR. RUPERT:  Thanks.


MR. FAYE:  Do you have that up, panel?


MR. HEARD:  Yes, we do.


MR. FAYE:  The question we asked panel 1 had to do with the line 3 of this table 2, other long-term debt provision. 


And this is an imputed debt, we understood, not real debt; is that right?


MR. HEARD:  Yes.


MR. FAYE:  Our question is, then:  Do you expect to take interest as a deduction on your income tax return for this amount of interest cost, this 37.1 on table 2?


MR. PENNY:  Are you speaking of the test period?


MR. FAYE:  This is 2009 on table 2.  The next table is table 3.  It is 2008.  I suppose if we added those two figures together, we would get the test period, but our question relates to:  Is this a tax deduction for income tax purposes?


MR. HEARD:  Yes.  For purposes of the regulatory tax calculation, we used the deemed debt and the deemed interest thereon.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So not your income tax filing for financial purposes, but your regulatory application?


MR. HEARD:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So we understand the answer to be, for regulatory tax purposes, this is a deduction; for financial income tax purposes, it is not?


MR. HEARD:  Correct.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Can I turn you to Exhibit F-3, tab 2, schedule 1, table 7?


Do you have that up?


MR. HEARD:  Yes.


MR. FAYE:  The top line on this regulatory earnings before tax, does that include a deduction for interest expense?


MR. HEARD:  Yes, it does.


MR. FAYE:  Could I ask you, what does that do to your net cost of debt?


MR. HEARD:  I probably need to look at that to try and...


MR. FAYE:  Could you give us an undertaking to respond to the question and a further question that if it is a deduction, does your application reflect the benefit you have received by the tax deductibility of interest than the revenue requirement for interest?  Is that clear?


MR. HEARD:  I think so.


MR. FAYE:  What we're saying is if it is tax deductible, then you have gained some financial benefit there and have you reflected that in your revenue requirement?


MR. HEARD:  Yes, we have.  So we have done that.  Sorry, I thought you were referring to:  How does it affect just the cost of debt in terms of the calculation?


MR. FAYE:  How have you done that?  How have you reflected that benefit?


MR. HEARD:  Because on -- if you look at Exhibit F-3, tab 2, schedule 1, for -- that schedule shows that periods 2007, 2008 and 2009 on the regulatory earnings before tax has the deemed interest already deducted in coming to that amount.


So it just flows down to the bottom to the -- to determine the taxable income, which in these cases is a loss carry-forward position that we're in.


So in that manner, it is reflected in the revenue requirement.


MR. FAYE:  Mr. Chair, could we take a moment on that one, pass it to Mr. Rubin, and see if we can sort out what question we really want answered here.


MR. KAISER:  That's fine.  Mr. Rubin.

Cross-examination by Mr. Rubin:


MR. RUBIN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair, panel.


MR. RUBIN:  I did not prepare a cross-examination brief, but I will be referring to only two documents, which you might as well pull out now.  The first is Exhibit JT1.2, and the second is the response to undertaking J4.2.


I believe I only have one simple question from the former document, and that is, on chart 2, you referred to spending amounts in 2008 and 2009, and they're described as OPG's contribution to Canadian Nuclear Association's advertising initiatives.


My question is:  Am I correct in assuming that OPG makes other financial contributions to the Canadian Nuclear Association and these are additional to those?


MR. PENNY:  May I ask for clarification, Mr. Chairman?  Is the question whether there are other contributions to the Canadian Nuclear Association -- to the CNA that are showing up in the revenue requirement, or is that question just a general question about other contributions?


MR. RUBIN:  No.  I am happy to restrict that to the revenue requirement to the regulated spending and the Canadian Nuclear Association, which I understand is different from the Society, the Canadian Nuclear Society.


Are there other funds that OPG pays?


MR. STAINES:  I am not totally certain if there are other funds.  I believe there may be some membership fees for the Canadian Nuclear Association.


MR. RUBIN:  Perhaps if those numbers are not broken out in the evidence -- if they are, perhaps somebody can steer me to them.  If not, perhaps we can get a small undertaking to produce them.

MR. PENNY:  I believe they're not broken out, so we can undertake to determine what those are.  

MR. KAISER:  What number is that?

MR. BATTISTA:  Number J8.10.
UNDERTAKING NO. J8.10:  To provide on OPG financial contributions to the Canadian Nuclear Association.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

MR. RUBIN:  Thank you.  I want to turn now to Exhibit J4.2.

On the first page, lines 32 to 34, there is a short paragraph that says:
"OPG is different than other regulated utilities in Ontario with respect to the issue of advertising.  Operating a nuclear plant in a community or planning to construct a nuclear plant in a community requires OPG to maintain the long-term support of the community."

I guess, would you agree that I read that correctly?  And you adopt that?

MR. STAINES:  Yes.

MR. RUBIN:  Now, explain to me, doesn't building and operating any generating plant in a community need the long-term support of the community?

MR. STAINES:  Yes, I would believe so.

MR. RUBIN:  And yet if this justification applies equally to hydroelectric facilities or to any of your unregulated types of generation, are you expending comparable sums, advertising the benefits of those forms of generation?  I mean we haven't seen it for hydroelectric, have we?

I was hoping this was an easy question.  I have some hard ones coming up.

MR. STAINES:  I'm just looking for where it is in the evidence.

According to the technical conference, we did identify advertising for hydroelectric, as well.  I just can't find it in my binder at the moment.

MR. RUBIN:  But correct me if I'm wrong, the hydroelectric advertising was not directed at maintaining the long-term support of the community so much as it was for safety, or for keeping people out of harm's way, wasn't it?  Was it corporate image advertising of this sort?  Or advocacy advertising or --

MR. STAINES:  We do do advertising for hydroelectric in communities, similar to what we do in nuclear.  Nuclear is larger facilities.  We feel that operating in these communities, we'll need to communicate to the nuclear communities what we are doing, how we are doing and what we plan to do.

Our executives feel that this is very important to be a good nuclear operator.  You need to communicate and advertise within those communities and gain the support of those communities.

MR. RUBIN:  Thank you.  Please don't take any of my questions as indicating that Energy Probe is critical of openness and communication on behalf of a nuclear utility or any other utility.

I think we yield to nobody in supporting those things, but we do try to make a distinction, and I hope I can convince this Board to make a distinction, between telling the whole truth and telling half of the truth twice.  Not to put too fine a point on it.

I am counting on your telling the whole truth today, to try to get me to the understanding of how the nuclear advertising and PR and other outreach activities fit into that.

Is it fair to say that the spending on nuclear image advertising or advocacy advertising in favour of nuclear would dwarf in its dollar amount the spending on hydroelectricity?  I haven't seen any TV ads from the Canadian Hydroelectric Association, telling me that it's –- you know, with a girly voice -- that it's, you know, a wonderful thing.

It's not just because I miss them, it's because they're not there; isn't that correct?

MR. STAINES:  Well, we do have TV advertising for hydroelectric that deals with water safety, which they started a few weeks ago dealing -- advertising within the communities, the hydroelectric.  It's not all in the evidence.  Some of the hydroelectric facilities are unregulated.  Others are regulated.

MR. RUBIN:  Are you telling me that the purpose of those ads is comparable to the purpose of the Canadian Nuclear Association ads, for example, which you support, extolling the delights of nuclear power and how important it is and how clean and reliable and affordable it is?

MR. STAINES:  I'm not sure I can answer that.

MR. RUBIN:  Do any of your hydroelectric ads, for example, promote the cleanness, reliability or affordability of hydroelectric power as your nuclear ads and CNA's nuclear ads do?

MR. STAINES:  I don't recall any specific ads, as such.

MR. RUBIN:  With respect, one of my questions is:  Is OPG different than other regulated utilities in Ontario with respect to the issue of advertising?  And we're talking about nuclear advertising.

Is your nuclear division different from everything else, because nuclear is special in its need for advertising?  Or is this a misstatement in the evidence and you're sorry you said it?

MR. PENNY:  With respect, Mr. Chairman, the interrogatory undertaking answer, excuse me, goes on to explain that very thing.

Mr. Rubin has chosen to focus on a claim and then ignores the rest of the answer.

MR. KAISER:  I think that is right, Mr. Rubin.  Can you restate your question?

MR. RUBIN:  Well, with respect, Mr. Penny and Mr. Chair, I don't see what in the follow-up changes the basic question.

Either there is something very special about 
nuclear -- I could go on to the next paragraph:
"OPG would not be able to operate its plants without a supportive local community."

This is in the context of nuclear advertising.

Is it not true, for every generating plant you have, and if it is equally true for all of them, why don't we see equal PR budgets for all of them?  It seems to me we see a preponderance of spending on the nuclear side and it's not just OPG.  I believe I've seen this wherever I've looked.

Which is it?  Is nuclear special?  Or is it just another way of living in a community and generating power?

MR. STAINES:  Well, the perception of nuclear power, I believe, is different than generating power from other sources.  And it's that perception that we are trying to communicate through our advertising. That it is safe and that it is clean, because the perception out there is not always that it is clean and safe.

MR. RUBIN:  So you're saying that you have to have a corrective role here, because there are widespread misperceptions about nuclear power that don't apply to other forms.  Is that fair?

MR. STAINES:  It is nuclear power and it is different than other forms, yes.

MR. RUBIN:  One other question before we leave this page.

Near the bottom, on lines 44 to 46 -- I won't read them unless I have to -- but would you agree with me that the gist of those lines is that local and provincial support help OPG to get regulatory approval from both the CNSC and the Canadian Environmental Assessment Agency?

MR. STAINES:  That's what it's saying.

MR. RUBIN:  And just a small question.

Was it intentional to leave the Ontario Energy Board off that list?  Would widespread public support not be helpful in this arena, as well?  Don't you need the support or...


MR. STAINES:  It was not intentionally left off the list.


MR. RUBIN:  All right.  Let me move on to page 2 and try to speed it up.


In justifying the nuclear advertising spending level at the top of the page, OPG refers to its mandate from the province, which requires it to maintain, and I am quoting, "a high level of accountability and transparency".


Do you see that?


MR. STAINES:  Yes, I do.


MR. RUBIN:  Would you agree with me that communicating with a high level of accountability and transparency is comparable to what you folks are doing today, which is telling the truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth?


MR. STAINES:  Yes, I do.


MR. RUBIN:  Yes?


MR. STAINES:  Yes.


MR. RUBIN:  Thank you.  And would you agree with me that you could spend the same public relations or advertising budget telling the whole truth or telling half of the truth twice?  You can't tell by the dollars which it is, can you?


MR. STAINES:  I'm not sure I understand the question.


MR. RUBIN:  Well, if it takes a million dollars to tell the truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth and be accountable and transparent to the province and to your neighbours, the fact that you've spent that much money doesn't prove that you have done that, does it?


MR. STAINES:  In those words, I will agree with you.


MR. RUBIN:  I will accept that.


Let me -- I want to discuss with you the effect of your nuclear advertising and that of the Canadian Nuclear Association.


Allow me just to back up for a few seconds here.  I view OPG's role in our society in terms -- and the Ontario Energy Board's in terms of a kind of chain of command.  At least in my simplistic view, the voters direct the government, the government chooses members of the Ontario Energy Board, sets policy, some of which directly affects what OPG can do and can't do.


Similarly, the ratepayers, the Ontario Energy Board, I see as largely acting within -- completely acting within provincial government direction and taking the part of ratepayers, again, to give binding instructions to OPG.


So OPG, in my view, is the recipient of these directions on this chain of command.


My first question is:  If you accept that view - and I hope you do, but if not, please take it for the purpose of these questions - would you agree with me that accountability and transparency on the part of OPG would be important to maintaining that chain of command?


MR. STAINES:  Yes.


MR. RUBIN:  And let me try this one, too.  Would you also agree with me that if Ontario Power Generation spends money to change the opinions of the people at the top of that chain of command on a politically divisive topic like nuclear expansion, isn't it inverting or perverting that chain of command?


MR. STAINES:  It seems like there is a whole bunch of ifs in there, and I can't comment on whether that is actual fact or perception.  I mean, if you take this and if you take something else, you can come to -- you can move the conclusion to any point you want.


MR. RUBIN:  Could you tell me what you disagree with?


MR. STAINES:  It's not that I disagree.  I think the line of question is more hypothetical than to what really the facts are.


MR. RUBIN:  Do we not agree that one of the purposes of your advertising is to change public opinion, to change the opinions of voters and ratepayers?


MR. STAINES:  I think it is more to make them aware of what goes on within OPG.


MR. RUBIN:  I may come back to this, but I think it may take care of itself.  Let's turn to page 3 of this same document.


Sorry, I think I mean -- I really mean page 4, I beg your pardon, which is the second page of attachment 1, which is numbered page number 1.  It is page number 1 of the document in the attachment.


The page is -- and the title of the page is -- "Corporate Affairs, Excluding CIO, and Key Takeaways" is the head of the three bullet points.


Could you start, please, with the third bullet point?  The third one says:

"Additional cost reduction actions to meet the 5 percent reduction guideline would negatively impact service capability..." 


Et cetera.  And I don't recall in this proceeding hearing that there was a 5 percent cost reduction guideline or that spending had decreased 5 percent.  Can you help me with that?  What is this guideline?


MR. STAINES:  This is a guideline within corporate affairs over our business planning period.  It's not a corporate-wide initiative or instruction.


MR. RUBIN:  Can I take it from this third bullet point that there are parts of corporate affairs that met the 5 percent reduction guideline, but nuclear advertising or nuclear -- anyway, was it nuclear advertising or nuclear corporate affairs did not?


MR. STAINES:  For 2008, it's not nuclear advertising.


2010, I do not have the numbers of whether there is any reductions for nuclear advertising.


MR. RUBIN:  The page refers to enhanced communications initiative -- an enhanced communications initiative.


Is that the new program that leads corporate affairs to exceed the -- to spend more than 95 percent of what was previously spent?  This is comparing a 2008 plan to 2007 levels of spending over the business plan period; correct?


MR. STAINES:  Beginning in 2008 over the business plan period, which goes to 2010.


MR. RUBIN:  Right.


MR. STAINES:  And each bullet is independent.  So the third bullet and the 5 percent reduction is a reduction on the overall spend during the three-year period.


MR. RUBIN:  So it's not the $3 million a year in the second bullet point that leads to the failure to meet the 5 percent cost reduction?  You're telling me that even if we ignore the $3 million a year, you're still not meeting the 5 percent cost reduction target?


MR. STAINES:  I didn't say we were not meeting the cost reduction target.  The cost reduction may not relate to nuclear advertising, though.  It is the overall plan of corporate affairs, which includes many other items.


MR. RUBIN:  So the third bullet point refers to all kinds of corporate affairs, not just nuclear, for example?


MR. STAINES:  That's correct.


MR. RUBIN:  Okay, noted.  Thank you.


In the middle paragraph, the second bullet point refers to proactively supporting increased new generation development activity.


I am wondering why -- why OPG is spending money to support increased new generation development activity when it's the express policy of the government of Ontario that nuclear generation will not be increased?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. PENNY:  Maybe I should just ask for clarification.  It's not on at all -- there we go.

Maybe I could just ask for clarification on that before proceeding, only on this basis, Mr. Chairman.  It's clear, the evidence is clear that OPG was directed by the government to investigate new nuclear development.  So I am not sure what Mr. Rubin is referring to.  Perhaps he could -- as the premise for his question.

MR. RUBIN:  Well, my premise is that the government has supported new builds to replace Pickering B, if Pickering B is not to be refurbished.  That's not expanded.  That's not increased new generation.  That is maintaining a level, as I understand it.

MR. PENNY:  Perhaps the confusion arises from the way you have read it.  But it says increased new generation development activity, not increased new generation, as such.

MR. RUBIN:  All right.  I will move on, then.  

Am I correct in assuming that OPG makes no political contributions to any party or any candidate in an election?

MR. STAINES:  I am not aware of any contributions to a political party.

MR. RUBIN:  Does somebody know, offhand?  I'm not a lawyer.  I am guessing that it would be illegal for OPG to do so.  Does anybody know if that is -- if it's true or if it's just by convention?

Nobody knows, I take it?

MR. HEARD:  I don't know if it is a legal matter or just a matter that we just don't do it.

MR. RUBIN:  Right.  Okay, thank you.

Are you aware the vision of the Canadian Nuclear Association is to have a strong, vibrant and expanding nuclear-based industry?

MR. STAINES:  I am not aware of what their mandate is.

MR. RUBIN:  You're members, OPG is a member of the Canadian Nuclear Association?

MR. STAINES:  [Nods head]

MR. RUBIN:  Are you aware the mission of the CNA includes creating a positive public, political and regulatory environment for advancing the nuclear industry in Canada?  And in this case, I stress the word "political".

MR. STAINES:  I am not aware of that.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay.

Turn over to attachment 2, please.  I am wondering if any of you, on the attachment to the numbered page 2 -- well, let me back up one section.

This entire document, whose title page we have as the first page of attachment 2, is entitled: "Nuclear public affairs program and business plan, 2008 overview."

Then the document starts with page 2.  I am wondering if it is possible for us to see the rest of this document, other than just page 2.

MR. PENNY:  We were asked by Mr. Rubin, in fact, to provide documents that explained the purpose of the nuclear advertising reflected in the filing and that's what we did.

The rest of the document doesn't explain the purpose of the nuclear advertising, or at least doesn't add to what's already here, so that's why we filed what we filed.  It sounds like Mr. Rubin is now asking a different question.

MR. RUBIN:  Yes, indeed I am, Mr. Penny.  I am sorry if I have given the impression that your answer was non-responsive or insufficient.  That is not my intent.

However, seeing page 2 of this document has made me curious about what I haven't seen on page 1.  And I am wondering if you could indulge me with the rest of the pages.

MR. PENNY:  With respect, Mr. Chairman, curiosity is what killed the cat, but I mean it's not Mr. Rubin's curiosity that's driving what's relevant in this proceeding.

MR. KAISER:  I think his point, Mr. Penny, was he wanted to make sure that he had all relevant pages and there might not being some other pages that dealt with this matter.

MR. PENNY:  I can think of no reason why we couldn't make the entire document available.

MR. KAISER:  I think it might be quicker if we did that.

MR. PENNY:  All right, thank you.

MR. BATTISTA:  That will be undertaking J8.11.  
UNDERTAKING NO. J8.11:  To provide the remainder of the document entitled: "Nuclear public affairs program and business plan, 2008 overview" and to determine the meaning of the phrases: "strategic earned media story placement," and "continued partnerships for third-party endorsement."


MR. RUBIN:  Thank you, Mr. Penny.

I wonder, panel, if you can help me understand some phrases that I am not very familiar with.  One of which is in the second bullet point: "Strategic earned media story placement."

Any of you know what that means?

MR. STAINES:  I do not know what it means.

MR. RUBIN:  I hate to add a long line of undertakings to undertakings, but this page, we all agree, is relevant to the original question, and I wonder if we could found out what this is spending to achieve.

MR. PENNY:  Why don't we add that to the prior undertaking and we will find out what "strategic earned media story placement" means?

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.  

MR. RUBIN:  Thank you, Mr. Penny.  

Continuing with the last bullet point on that page, I am puzzled again by "continued partnerships for third-party endorsement."  Anybody know what that means?

MR. PENNY:  It looks like not.

MR. STAINES:  No, we do not know what it means. 

MR. RUBIN:  Can we add an elaboration of that point to the undertaking?

MR. PENNY:  We will add: "to determine what 'continued partnerships for third party endorsement means.'"

MR. RUBIN:  Thank you.

Turning to attachment 3, which is a Canadian Nuclear Association document, as I understand it, part of the same response J4.2.

There is a heading "Strategic direction" and the first bullet is:  "Maintain/reinforce our stance across our key drivers for nuclear energy..."

And I am wondering if any of you can confirm whether these key drivers are that nuclear is clean, that it's reliable, that it is affordable, for example?  That's my guess, but I'm --

Can you confirm that, please?

MR. STAINES:  I cannot confirm that.

MR. RUBIN:  Cannot confirm?

MR. STAINES:  Cannot.

MR. RUBIN:  Mr. Chair, I was told about five panels ago that these questions on nuclear advertising had to wait for this panel.

I am a little disappointed that we have to get undertakings instead of responses, but I will certainly accept an undertaking to try to clarify this.

MR. KAISER:  What was the question, Mr. Rubin?

MR. PENNY:  The problem with this one, Mr. Chairman, is that I have no problem explaining what documents that OPG has produced mean, but this is not an OPG document.  It's something that was obviously provided to us.

We provided it in response to Mr. Rubin's question, but we're not in a position to say what the CNA means when it uses a particular word.

MR. RUBIN:  Well, excuse me, Mr. Penny.  My understanding is that OPG is not just a member of CNA, it is one of the biggest most powerful and most spending members of the CNA.  After Atomic Energy of Canada Limited, I believe you yield to nobody in your involvement and their committees and in their budget and in their decisions.

I just don't believe these panellists are involved in that, and so I am getting undertakings instead of answers, and that's all we can do, and I understand that.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Rubin, what is your question exactly with respect to --

MR. RUBIN:  My question is what the creative messaging of CNA, which OPG is contributing regulated funds to, what it is, what its strategic direction is, specifically in the first bullet point on page 3 of this attachment 3.  I am referring to the part I quoted, "maintain, reinforce our stance across our key drivers for nuclear energy", which I believe is relevant to Energy Probe's concern in this matter.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Penny, let's leave it on this basis.  This panel doesn't know, but if there is anyone in your shop that does know, let us know.  If not, then we will leave it at that.


MR. PENNY:  Yes.


MR. RUBIN:  Thank you.  Perhaps we can save some time by rolling into that the bottom two bullet points on 

page 4, where newspaper advertising is used, quote, "to increase support against stakeholders", and, quote, "for tactical support".


I would also like to know what those phrases mean.


MR. PENNY:  We can deal with that on the same basis, if that is satisfactory, Mr. Chairman.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. BATTISTA:  That will be undertaking J8.12.
UNDERTAKING NO. J8.12:  TO PROVIDE STRATEGIC DIRECTION OF J4.2, Attachment 3, page 4, Newspaper Ad


MR. RUBIN:  Thank you.  We are almost done here, is the good news.


Are the panellists surprised to hear that the front page of the CNA's website includes the claim that "Canadian nuclear energy provides dependable electricity that you can count on any time, all the time"?


MR. PENNY:  Mr. Chairman, Mr. Rubin isn't in the witness box.  He's not been sworn.  He's not here to give evidence.  He can ask the witnesses whether they know what is on the website, but it hardly seems appropriate for him to be putting in evidence, and then asking the witnesses whether they agree or disagree, or are surprised or not surprised.


MR. KAISER:  Well, Mr. Rubin, the statement, the reference you just made to the website, maybe you could just get us a copy of that and you can put that to the witness.


MR. RUBIN:  Okay.


MR. KAISER:  I mean, you looked at the website this morning and that's what it says?


MR. RUBIN:  That's correct.  I'm not sure how to proceed.  Should I proceed with a future panel after producing this, or -- I mean, it is public.


MR. KAISER:  Why don't we proceed this way, Mr. Penny?  Let's assume for the purpose of this question that that is what the website says.  We can all run out at the break and check.


MR. PENNY:  Absolutely.


MR. KAISER:  Assuming that is a correct representation of what is on this website, what was your question to the panel?


MR. RUBIN:  Well, are the panellists surprised to hear that this claim is being made that, quote, "Canadian nuclear energy provides dependable electricity that you can count on any time, all the time"?


MR. HEARD:  No, we're not surprised.


MR. RUBIN:  Are you willing to adopt that claim as your own?


MR. HEARD:  Well, that...


MR. RUBIN:  I can read it again, if you like.


[Witness panel confers]

MR. HEARD:  Well, from my personal perspective -- you know, I wouldn't want to speak for the OPG, but from my personal perspective, it's somewhat consistent with the fact that it is -- nuclear is base load generation, that it is supposed to be there most of the time and all the time, and, therefore, it doesn't seem that out of line with that thinking.


MR. RUBIN:  Everybody else on the panel happy with that answer?


MR. BRYDON:  Actually, personally, it is not my website and I can't attest to the information is that's on it, so I don't necessarily make any claims to what is on the website, Mr. Rubin.


MR. KAISER:  Well, without getting into what the website says, the statement that was just repeated, do you regard that as an accurate statement in describing nuclear generation?


MR. BRYDON:  I will take Mr. Rubin's word that is an accurate statement, but I am not going to...


MR. RUBIN:  No, no.  The question is not whether you accept the accuracy of the claim that it's on CNA's website.  The question is whether you accept the accuracy of the statement itself, that "Canadian nuclear energy provides dependable electricity that you can count on any time, all the time."  Yes or no will do.


MR. BRYDON:  It sounds like a reasonable position, then, yes.  I would agree with Mr. Heard.


MR. RUBIN:  Thank you.  If I told you that, for example, all four of the TV ads that are listed by CNA, which I understand are part of this line item of funding from OPG, that they all include the claim that nuclear is reliable -- I won't ask you what's in the ads, but can I -- you would also adopt that statement that nuclear is reliable?


MR. HEARD:  Yes.


MR. RUBIN:  Thank you.


I believe that's all I have and will save the rest for argument.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. RUPERT:  Mr. Faye, before you begin again, can I ask one quick follow-up, not as broad as Mr. Rubin's questions, but this goes back to something I was asking about with earlier panels.


Advertising for brand-new nuclear facilities, unrelated to the prescribed assets - they're not prescribed assets - I wondered why that spending is part of, like, regular OM&A when there is deferral and variance accounts that have been set up in the regulation for new generation development costs of planning and all of the rest.


Was that a discussion in your shop about whether expenditures like this, to garner public support for brand-new nuclear developments, ought to be part of regular OM&A or should be part of this special deferral account mechanism the government has included in the regulation?


MR. HEARD:  It hasn't been a discussion internally to put it into the deferral account that I am aware of, and that's based on the -- we've kept the deferral account at a fairly pure moneys spent to increase capacity, and that sort of thing.


MR. RUPERT:  Okay, thanks.  Sorry, Mr. Faye.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Shepherd.

Cross-examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Rupert, Mr. Chairman.  I'm hiding behind the pillar here.  My name is Jay Shepherd.  I represent the School Energy Coalition.


You will be disappointed to know I have no questions on nuclear advertising.


I want to start with a follow-up to something you talked about with Mr. Warren, and the reference is CCC number 79, which I guess is L-3-79; is that right?


This is the chart of your regulatory expenses.  Do you have that?


MR. STAINES:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I just have two questions on this.  The 8.7 million in 2008 -- which is largely for this proceeding; right?


MR. STAINES:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's not all of the costs of this proceeding.  As I understand what you were saying earlier, certain costs like legal, for example, aren't in there; right?


MR. STAINES:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do we know what the other regulatory costs are, the total of the other regulatory costs?  Is that around somewhere?


MR. STAINES:  It's within the corporate centre budgets.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the legal --


MR. STAINES:  Our legal -- external legal fees are captured within the legal department's budget.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's for this proceeding and for other proceedings you're involved with.  You're involved with IPSP and things like that, as well; right?


MR. STAINES:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So can you provide us with the total regulatory budget for 2008 and 2009, all items? 


MR. PENNY:  Mr. Shepherd, I am having a hard time hearing.  I missed the last part of what you said.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you provide, please, the total regulatory budget for all items for 2008 and 2009, so that includes the regulatory items that are not in this particular line, this 8.7 million?


Can you do that?


MR. STAINES:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. KAISER:  Do we have a number for that?


MR. STAINES:  I could address a good deal of it right now.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you know what the number is?


MR. STAINES:  I have -- say, out of 8.7 within corporate affairs, I have -- 7.7 is related to this hearing.  I can give you a further breakdown.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I wasn't asking for a breakdown of the 8.7.  I am asking for the things that are not in the 8.7 that are in corporate centre and things like that.


MR. STAINES:  There is an additional 1.5 million for legal fees within our legal budget.


MR. SHEPHERD:  For this proceeding?


MR. STAINES:  For this proceeding.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then there is some other regulatory costs within your legal budget for other proceedings, yes?

MR. STAINES:  I do not have that information with me.  I would have to go look for that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  This 8.7, does that include the OEB charges?

MR. STAINES:  The OEB?  Which charges?

MR. SHEPHERD:  The OEB charges you an amount, a fee.

MR. STAINES:  Right, yes.  That includes the --

MR. SHEPHERD:  That is included in the 8.7.

MR. STAINES:  It includes the fees, yes.

MR. KAISER:  It won't be 1.5 million.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the total legal fees for this proceeding are 1.5 million, which means that we took Mr. Penny's name in vain unfairly.

I wonder if you could undertake to provide us with the total regulatory budget for 2008 and 2009, all items, wherever they are.  Can you do that?

MR. PENNY:  Yes, we can do that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  J 8.13?

MR. BATTISTA:  J8.13.
UNDERTAKING NO. J8.13:  To provide the total OPG regulatory budget for 2008 and 2009


MR. SHEPHERD:  My next question about regulatory is, you have done quite a number of -- this 8.7 million includes a number of external studies and reports and things like that, right?  You've got consultants and advisors to assist by doing analysis of particular issues; correct?

MR. STAINES:  We have some external consultants, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Have all of the studies and reports that those external consultants did, have they all been filed in this proceeding?

MR. STAINES:  I do not believe so.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So can you undertake to provide us with a list of those, and identify the ones that have not been filed, please?

Mr. Chairman, I am going to ask at some point that we see those, but I think it is only fair that we look and see what they are first.  Maybe there's some good reason why they're not here.

MR. KAISER:  I am trying to figure out why you need the names of studies they haven't filed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, Mr. Chairman, if an intervenor goes out and does -- has a study done, and seeks to have that recovered from -- the costs of that recovered from the ratepayer, then we have to file it.  If we don't file it, we don't get to recover it.  I don't see any reason why the same rule would not apply to OPG.

MR. KAISER:  Have they said they're going to try and recover those costs?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am asking whether the costs associated with this 8.7 million, which is in their budget, they're asking the ratepayers to pay.

MR. KAISER:  All right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The concern, obviously, Mr. Chairman --

MR. PENNY:  Mr. Chairman, I would break it down a number of ways.  There is first the question of what is covered by that amount.

Then assuming there is something covered by that amount, there is the issue, of course, of whether it was prepared in contemplation of litigation.  The mere fact that OPG is seeking to recover the cost of that work does not waive privilege, so we would need to assess whether there were privilege claims.

Then -- I think that that would be the starting point, it seems to me.

MR. KAISER:  Let's start with that.  Let's provide Mr. Shepherd with a list, and at the same time, if there is any privilege claims, you can make them with respect to the appropriate items.

MR. PENNY:  All right.  Thank you.

MR. BATTISTA:  That will be undertaking J8.14.  
UNDERTAKING NO. J8.14:  To provide a list of studies and reports done by external consultants.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, I wonder if we could turn to Consumers Council of Canada number 80, which is L-3, 80.

And this has a breakdown in it.  Do you have that, sir?

MR. HEARD:  Yes.

MR. STAINES:  Yes, I do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This has a breakdown of the New Horizon charges, these first, I think it is six lines with the total of this chart, starting with infrastructure management.  That's the New Horizon payments, right?

MR. STAINES:  The first five lines and the sixth line is the total of the New Horizon's base cost.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, okay.

So let me start with this amount that is listed as enhancements and variable demand, that's a $5-million increase.

So that's a 30-percent increase year-over-year from 2007 to 2008, but it was higher earlier, and went down and then back up.

My question with respect to this is, a big chunk of this is telecommunication costs, right?

MR. STAINES:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you have changed your capitalization policy to increase the level of telecommunications equipment that is OM&A rather than capital, right?  Now it's everything up to $25,000, every piece of gear that is up to $25,000.  Is that in here?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. STAINES:  I do not believe the change in our capitalization policy has affected this line.  If it has, it has been minimal.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then the reason why I ask that is that a $5-million increase in a line that is sort of a routine type of -- this is fairly routine stuff that you're doing all the time, right?

I don't understand how you would have such a big increase year-over-year.  It doesn't look like the category of expense that would be particularly volatile.

Can you help us with that?

MR. STAINES:  The majority of those increases are related to the enhancement work, and not the telecommunications.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So tell us about those enhancements.  What kinds of enhancements are we talking about?  Is this specific budget items?  There's a detailed budget behind it?  Or is this sort of general estimates:  We think we're going to do more this year?

MR. STAINES:  Well, it's a plan, in 2008, of what, you know, the programs that we plan to roll out during that time, and enhancements would include things like refreshing assets, work on certain systems to improve certain systems.

It could be upgrades to certain software systems that are run, like our major accounting systems or payroll systems.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, now, wouldn't that normally be application maintenance, or is that a separate item?

MR. STAINES:  It depends on whether -- yes, there is a split between what's base and what is enhancements.  So if we go to improve it, we call it an enhancement.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You pay typically somewhere between 12 and 17 percent of the original cost of software each year as a maintenance fee, right?  Typically.  It depends on the software?

MR. STAINES:  I am not aware of what that percentage is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.  Is anybody aware of the IT costs?

These are pretty standard.  Anybody who is involved in IT is familiar with these.

MR. STAINES:  I don't have that off the top of my head now.  I don't have it with me.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Anyway, the application maintenance is that stuff, right?  It is the annual fees to keep the software maintained, right?

MR. STAINES:  Mm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then separately you have people within your organization saying, Well, we would be able to do this particular function better if we had this additional module for this software, or this new version, or this new product, whatever; right?


MR. STAINES:  Right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So this other line as enhancements, that's what that is?


MR. STAINES:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And now some of these are big-ticket items, right, because your capitalization policy now says that anything up to $200,000 is OM&A; right?  Some of these are big pieces of software that are OM&A?


MR. STAINES:  Our capitalization for most of this type of equipment is $25,000.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I thought for software it was $200,000.


MR. STAINES:  I'm sorry, software is $200,000.  Telecommunication and minor equipment is $25,000.


MR. SHEPHERD:  This enhancement line, is it minor equipment or is it software?


MR. STAINES:  A lot of the enhancements are labour dollars and not so much equipment.  It's planning, it's purchasing, it's installing, upgrading, that type of work.


MR. SHEPHERD:  This $22.7 million that we're looking at right now, the 2008 number for enhancements, et cetera, do we have a breakdown of that somewhere?  I mean, you have -- in this IR, you have a four-line explanation of it.


But for this $22.7 million, is there a more detailed breakdown somewhere?  I looked and I couldn't find it, but there is a lot of material.  Maybe I just missed it.


MR. STAINES:  In the evidence, there is no further breakdown than that line item.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Could you undertake to provide us with some sort of breakdown that would help us to understand what that is made up of, you know, what is software, major items within it, things like that?  I mean, maybe there is actually a plan document.  Presumably somebody asked for that $22.7 million.  Maybe you could just file that document, the document that asks for the money.  Can you do that?


MR. STAINES:  I will see what we have.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.


MR. BATTISTA:  That will be undertaking J8.15.

UNDERTAKING NO. J8.15:  TO PROVIDE A BREAKOUT OF INTERROGATORY L-3 80 IT ENHANCEMENTS

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then still on this IR, the three lines above that, infrastructure management, contracts and application maintenance, we went to do some calculations of those and when we put them on a spreadsheet, it was surprising to see that from 2007 to 2008 they all increased by almost exactly the same amount, 25 percent.  From 2005 to 2009, they all increased by almost exactly the same amount, 40 percent.


Is that coincidence, or is that part of your planning?


MR. STAINES:  One of the reasons for the increases during 2008 in those line items is some work was shifted from the CIO, our OPG IT group, to New Horizon.  We shifted about $12 million worth of work, that was previously performed in-house, to our outsourcer.  So that would explain some of the increases in each of these line items.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's helpful.  So that's 12 million out of the $23 million that you have increased it, but I guess my question was a different one.


When you have three line items increase by almost identical percentages, that suggests that whoever was doing the budgeting had some guidance, that they started with the premise, Okay, we're going to be allowed another 25 percent this year, so that's our target number, 25 percent, and we will build our budget that way.


Is that right?


MR. STAINES:  I don't believe our budgets are built that way.  The budgets are built on what our contractual obligations are for base work, plus what we also need -- what projects that we plan to do, enhancements we plan to implement.  So it is more of a variable cost item.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So then your answer to my original question is that the fact that they all increased by the same amount is a coincidence?


MR. STAINES:  Somewhat of a coincidence.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Let me deal with -- let me start with the application maintenance line.


Application maintenance in a relatively steady state business generally doesn't go up very much.  I am not sure I understand how your annual costs of software could go up 25 percent in one year.  Can you help me with that?


MR. STAINES:  Again, some of that is related to the movement from CIO cost into New Horizon, the purchase of computers.  A good deal of the purchase of computers used to be done in-house, and now it has been moved over to New Horizon and they perform those duties.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's in application maintenance?


MR. STAINES:  Some of it is support for the purchasing of IT components.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Forgive me, but application maintenance doesn't appear to include anything to do with purchasing hardware.  I am just looking in your answer here to CCC 80, and it's not included there anywhere under application maintenance, anyway.


In fact, I don't see it in any of the categories.  I assume it is in the NHSS miscellaneous line, if anywhere.


MR. STAINES:  I am just looking at the enhancements of the IT applications and the support for that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  We were dealing with --


MR. STAINES:  It could include the support for what we call asset refresh, or refresh assets.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry, I'm not on the enhancements line anymore.


MR. STAINES:  Application and maintenance.  In L-3, schedule 80, it states that application maintenance includes enhancements of IT applications.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Application refers to software, doesn't it?  It's a term of art?


MR. STAINES:  Yes, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  There is no hardware purchasing in application maintenance, is there?


MR. STAINES:  No purchasing of software, sorry.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Then you have contracts, as another line here, also went up 25 percent in one year and 40 percent over five years -- or four years.


Contracts, as I understand it, is external contracts for people who, for example, service your gear and stuff like that; right?


MR. STAINES:  Sorry, I can't hear you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It is external contracts for people who service your computers and things like that?


MR. STAINES:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And it includes -- it could have been lease agreements, disaster recovery services.  Again, it is hard to understand how that one would go up 25 percent in one year.  Maybe you could help us with that?


MR. STAINES:  The plans have included increases of those amounts for those areas.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The last one I want to ask about on this list is infrastructure management, another 25-percent increase.  It is $10 million.

This is the sort of supervisory and security component of managing a complex IT system, right?  You have to have managers and trouble-shooters and people like that to oversee the whole system, right?

[Cell phone sounds]

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'll get it.

MR. STAINES:  That includes quite a number of things.  Desktop support, our mainframes, support of our mainframes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  These are your help desk's?

MR. STAINES:  Our help desk is included in infrastructure management, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So, again, can you help us out with why that one would increase by 25 percent in one year?  The size of your network and the number of your assets didn't increase by 25 percent, right?

MR. STAINES:  There are some initiatives we are looking at, and one of them is in regards to the help desk and the plan has about $7 million of support costs to re-engineer our help desk.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, this is a $7-million increase in your budget to re-engineer the help desk?

MR. STAINES:  It is an increase in infrastructure management and there benefits that come about in future years by re-engineering this help desk.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I see.  Is the business case for that filed somewhere?

MR. STAINES:  No, it's not, because it's not an approved program yet.  It has just been put into the plan.  It has been planned for 2008, and as the time comes before the project develops, there would be approval of it at that time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So, sorry, help me with this.  It's June 2008, and you haven't got approval for this project yet?

MR. STAINES:  No, we have not.  It's being reviewed now.  We have a new senior vice president of our IT group, who has decided to review all of the programs and projects that have been planned for this year, and will make a decision on that later on.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, I will come back to your seven million in just a second.

So there are other major IT projects that have also not yet been approved, that are in the budget?

MR. STAINES:  Yes.  There is another one.  There was an interrogatory, L-14-55.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's one of ours.

MR. STAINES:  Which discusses the relocation of OPG's data centres.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I read this IR response earlier, and I don't recall it saying that this is not an approved project yet.  Does it say it there somewhere?

MR. PENNY:  It does say, Mr. Shepherd, in the penultimate paragraph, that:
"The detailed work on relocation will begin later in 2008, at which time formal supporting business case documentation will be prepared."

MR. SHEPHERD:  I see.  Okay.

So this is in your 2009 budget.  

MR. STAINES:  This is -- begins in 2008.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Obviously you don't have the business case for that one, but back to your customer, your support desk project.  You have a business case for that, right?

MR. STAINES:  Not yet.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I just asked you and you said it hasn't been filed yet.  So I assume it's a business -- 

MR. STAINES:  It hasn't been prepared yet.  As far as I know, it hasn't been prepared, the business case for the re-engineering of the help desk.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you put it in your budget on the basis that there are sufficient benefits to justify spending $7 million, right?

MR. STAINES:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Presumably, you have done some analysis to reach that conclusion, haven't you?

MR. STAINES:  There has been some analysis done.  There has been no formal business case prepared.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So what document do you have that says: net present value of the benefits is greater than seven million?

MR. STAINES:  I do not have a document, but the numbers filed within our business plan indicate that although the $7 million is spent in 2008, we have savings where there are reductions to the business plan in 2009 and going forward, 2010 and onwards.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Well, I was going to ask for the business case.  Obviously I can't.  But I wonder if you could provide us with whatever you can to help us with your -- to give us your current status of justification for that seven million.

Can do you that?  Whatever documentation you have available.

MR. STAINES:  I will have to see what we have.

MR. PENNY:  Yes, we will look and see what is available.

MR. BATTISTA:  That will be undertaking J8.16.
UNDERTAKING NO. J8.16:  To provide material to explain the current status of justification for the $7 million re-engineering of the OPG help desk.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I have one more question on this CIO, and then I will move to another topic, so perhaps, Mr. Chairman, that would be a good time to break after I ask this one more question.  Is that all right?

MS. CHAPLIN:  I just have a clarifying question, sorry, before that, on this.

You've described, Mr. Stains, the $7-million project.  So I gather that explains $7 million of the increase.  I think that was the infrastructure management line.  Was that the line they were talking about?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  But I notice it stays at that same higher level in 2009.  Is there some subsequent project, as well, or why wouldn't that seven million, then, come off?

MR. STAINES:  I would have to go back and look.

MR. KAISER:  You had one more question before the break?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I thought he was looking for something, sorry.

MR. STAINES:  It only comes down slightly in 2009.  It wouldn't be the full amount.  I couldn't tell you why it doesn't come back down by the full amount.  There would be just regular increases --

MS. CHAPLIN:  I understood your explanation for seven million of the $10-million increase to be this project, which I had understood to be a one-year re-engineering project.

MR. STAINES:  That's correct.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So you have no explanation for why it continues at that higher level and doesn't come down?

MR. STAINES:  I have no idea.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me just follow up on that.  A $7 million project, isn't some portion of that capitalized, then?

MR. STAINES:  No.  The $7 million is the OM&A portion of it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So there is a capital portion, too?

MR. STAINES:  I do not believe so.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So normally when you do a big project with long-term benefits, normally you capitalize it so that you match the spending over a period of years to the benefits.  Why aren't you doing that in this case?

MR. STAINES:  Most of the payments are related to labour costs incurred.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You capitalize labour all the time.  What's different here?


MR. STAINES:  These are more related to severance costs.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Severance costs?


MR. STAINES:  Yes, that's right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, I get it.  Okay.  My last question on the CIO is related to -- let me just see if I can find the reference.  It is F-3, tab 1, schedule 1, table 1.


This was originally filed November 30th, 2007, and then it was subsequently refiled March 14th, 2008.


A lot of the numbers on this table changed and I am not going to ask you about them, but one, in particular, that I don't understand is the 2008 plan for CIO went from 181.1 million to $192.3 million, an 11.2 million increase.


Do we have somewhere an explanation for why you increased your current year budget by $11.2 million for that line item, CIO?


MR. PENNY:  The general answer is, Mr. Chairman, we didn't provide variance to plan over plan.  I mean, I am happy to have you ask Mr. Staines about it, but we didn't file a variance analysis plan over plan on the theory that the more current business plan simply reflected more up-to-date information about what our anticipated costs were.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  I am not going to ask about all of the various changes.  I am only asking about this one particular one, because it's a substantial increase in an area that appears to have some concerns.  Do you want to undertake to provide that information, Mr. Staines?


MR. STAINES:  Just give me a minute here.  I will see if I have the information with me.  I'm not sure I do.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. STAINES:  I believe that that is related to what we called special initiatives.


If you go to F-3, tab 1, schedule 2, page 6, 2008 plan versus 2007, we state in line 20 that a series of special initiatives, which is the re-engineering of the help desk and the relocation of the data centres, those explanations were not provided in the evidence that was filed in November.  So I'm assuming that is why the jump in the dollars would be.


MR. SHEPHERD:  My blue page here doesn't have lines -- line numbers, so just help me out for a second.


MR. STAINES:  It is a little bit more than halfway down the page.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Where it says "such as the relocation of multiple data centres"?  That's the one you're talking about?


MR. STAINES:  That's the one I'm talking about.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That is the 15 million we were just discussing?


MR. STAINES:  The data centres were -- was, I believe, 5 million in 2008 and the re-engineering totals were about seven-and-a-half.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  That data centre doesn't have a business case yet?


MR. STAINES:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  I am moving to another area, if this is a convenient time to take a break, Mr. Chairman.


MR. KAISER:  All right, thank you.  Twenty minutes.


--- Recess taken at 3:33 p.m. 


--- Upon resuming at 3:56 p.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.

MR. PENNY:  Mr. Chairman, I wanted to note that the answer to J2.7, which was Mr. Rupert's question about the versions of section 6.2, .5 and .6 of the regulations, we have now an answer.

It has a number of pages to it, probably warrants some walking through, and this is probably the best panel to do that.

So I don't want to interrupt my friend's cross-examination, but at some point it is probably worth having the panel explain what has been done here.  It looks as if it is almost certain we will spill over until tomorrow with this panel, so perhaps I could do that tomorrow morning.

MR. KAISER:  All right, if that is convenient.

Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

So we provided you, Mr. Penny, and your witnesses, with a spreadsheet.

Just to set this up, this spreadsheet -- I'm sorry about the small type.  I was doing it this morning while I was listening, so I didn't have a chance to play with the formatting.  The upper left three boxes are your tables F3, 1, 1 -- 1, 2 and 3.

And the bottom left box is the difference between the nuclear and hydro, and the total, which is what Mr. Rodger was getting at this morning, I think.

Then the upper right is simply those percentages' difference over four years for each of the line items compared side by side.  They're the numbers from the bottom.

I am not going to ask you whether all of these numbers are accurate.  You will be able to verify them for yourself.  Unfortunately, it was done at the last minute this morning, so I didn't have a chance to give it to you in advance.  I apologize.

I will ask you simply when you go away, if you see any errors in these numbers, please bring them to our attention so we can correct them.

It's just math on your numbers.

MR. RUPERT:  Mr. Shepherd, so I am clear, the top box "corporate support, centrally held" at the top left is the sum of the three below it.  Is that right?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  It's table 1, the next one is table 2, the next one is table 3, and then the next one is what's left over, the residual.

MR. RUPERT:  Okay, thanks.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't have any particular detailed questions I am going to ask you about this, but I do want to ask you just a couple of general questions.

Sorry, I guess we need a number.

MR. BATTISTA:  That will be Exhibit K8.3, and it will be characterized as Schools summary of support and centrally held costs.
EXHIBIT NO. K8.3:  Schools summary of support and centrally held costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I just want to ask at a very high level, it appears that the increases in corporate support and centrally held costs have been allocated very heavily to hydroelectric, less so to nuclear, and the least to unregulated.

At a high level, can you help us with why that is?  We know all of the details.  We have looked at the Rudden study, all of that sort of stuff, but at a high level you have to sort of apply a common sense test to things like this.

It doesn't look intuitive to us, so maybe you could help us with why that makes sense.

MR. STAINES:  There's a number of reasons why it appears that way.  One of the reasons, as I mentioned before, there's almost $8 million in the plan in 2008 and 2009 for the OEB hearing, which is 100 percent assigned to the regulated businesses.

There has also been increases in other -- in departments within OPG to support this process, as well, and as far as finance is concerned, we have a small department that looks at regulatory accounting which would be 100 percent allocated to the regulatory process and to the regulatory businesses.

We've had increases in our hydroelectric business, a good deal of it pertaining to the Niagara plant group and, specifically, the Niagara tunnel being built.  We've also had some First Nations cost over the period, some pertaining to the unregulated facilities, some pertaining to the regulated facilities, and depending on the year it could show up and downs.

We have established a hydroelectric controllership group.  Before, they were combined with another group and because of the increases in workload within the hydroelectric business, we felt it necessary for them to have their own controllership support, just like nuclear does, just like our fossil business does.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Where were they before?

MR. STAINES:  Excuse me?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Where was that function done before?

MR. STAINES:  Before we had a group that supported both fossil and hydroelectric.  As demand was growing for this controllership group, it was decided to split out the controllership groups and it did add additional staff and costs to hydroelectric.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Presumably, it added costs to fossil too, didn't it?

MR. STAINES:  Yes, it did.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then that can't explain these differences, given fossil is on that unregulated side.

MR. STAINES:  That is just one piece of the finance puzzle.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. STAINES:  One of the other large items that has happened is the allocations on many of the corporate groups, their, I guess, final allocation when we cannot determine what is directly assigned to a production group, many of the allocations are done on an OM&A and capital blend, and our capital expenditures have increased, I guess, more significantly within hydroelectric regulated due to the Niagara tunnel.

Therefore, they would receive a higher percentage of the allocations.

MR. KAISER:  Is that why the corporate affairs and regulated hydro is going up 300 percent a year?

MR. STAINES:  Regulated affairs is basically related to the OEB hearing costs, but finance would be one of those groups that would have a OM&A capital blend allocator.  Real estate would be in OM&A capital blend.

MR. SHEPHERD:  See, that's a good example.  Hydroelectric, the finance costs are going up 165 percent over four years.  For nuclear, 21 percent.  And for unregulated, eight percent.  And that doesn't seem intuitive.

You have a whole plan for additional unregulated facilities, particularly unregulated hydroelectric, right?  Aren't there significant finance costs associated with that?

MR. STAINES:  Finance in the sense of a finance department?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, in the sense of that line that says finance --

MR. STAINES:  That line which is the finance department?  They are less than the Niagara tunnel, significantly less --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Because you are allocating it based on an allocation of OM&A and capital blend?

MR. STAINES:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Even though the Niagara tunnel is, as I understand it, is one deal already done with the provincial government, right?  You already know how that's going to be financed.

MR. STAINES:  That's how it has been financed, yes, but the key word -- Sorry?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, whereas the other projects, the smaller hydroelectric projects that you're planning, there's a lot of work to finance those, because some them will not be through OEFC, right?

MR. STAINES:  That's right, but this is not the finance costs of those projects.  This is for the controllership department to support the business.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh.  This is not the people costs to arrange financing.  This is the --

MR. STAINES:  This is controllership.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Budget control?

MR. STAINES:  The functional departments, yes.

Just while you're at it, you said that there is significant increases in costs relating to Niagara -- the Niagara tunnel, but that's all capitalized, isn't it?


MR. STAINES:  Those costs are capital.  However, if we get down to -- for example, take the accounting department, who work -- deals with hydroelectric, regulated, unregulated, nuclear, fossil.  The way we allocate the dollars for the accounting department is we use the percentage of capital and OM&A, say, at regulated hydro to the total.


I'm saying the numerator and, to some extent, the denominator are going up, but the numerator is going up because of the Niagara tunnel, so they're getting a higher percentage to the hydroelectric regulated business.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the regulated businesses, which have the big projects, will get the bulk of the overhead costs, because they have larger-scale projects than the unregulated business; right?


MR. STAINES:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You also mentioned First Nations?


MR. STAINES:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You have some additional First Nations costs.  That wouldn't be -- would that be regulated business?


MR. STAINES:  We have had some related to our Saunders plant.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, yes, okay.


MR. STAINES:  Some grievances that have been settled.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But your First Nations OM&A costs, which are substantial, are mainly related to your unregulated hydroelectric?


MR. STAINES:  They go directly to the unregulated business, but there has been some dollars -- actually, I don't believe there is any in the rate period.  I think it was 2007 we might have had some.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess the last -- your explanation was very helpful.  One part of it is a little bit confusing for me.


I take it what you're saying is that in terms of this new regulatory cost, right, you have the line item we talked about earlier, the 8.7 million, which is called "regulatory".  You have some other things that are in the legal budget, in the corporate centre budget.


But then throughout the organization, you have some incremental costs associated with regulation that are just about having another person here and another person there, et cetera; right?


MR. STAINES:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you know how much that is?  Or let me put it to you --


MR. STAINES:  It's spread out between some of the corporate groups and also within the production facilities, as well, or, say, nuclear and unregulated hydro.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me phrase the question differently.


I presume that at some point the corporation has sat back and said, How much is this regulatory -- this change in the regulatory process actually costing us, total cost.


Have you done or has the company done that sort of analysis somewhere and said it's $30 million a year, or whatever -- done that analysis, estimated it?


MR. STAINES:  I don't think I've seen an analysis of how much we are actually spending.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You know there are costs all over the organization associated with this process; right?


MR. STAINES:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But as far as you know, nobody has ever totalled them up?


MR. STAINES:  I have not, and I am not aware if somebody has.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I realize there may not be such a document available, and I am not really fishing.  I am guessing there may be such a document.


So I am wondering whether you can undertake to see if there is a summary of all regulatory costs, somewhere.  If there's not, just tell us.


MR. PENNY:  Well, Mr. Barrett is in a position to know, I think, and he's telling me that there is no such document.


MR. SHEPHERD:  There's none?


MR. PENNY:  None.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I withdraw the question.  Thank you.


Let me turn to -- you had a discussion earlier with my friend, Mr. Faye, about the licence retention bonus.  Do you recall that?


MS. IRVINE:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I --


MS. IRVINE:  I can't see you over there.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I just have a couple of questions about that.  Do you know what the overall cost of that is, the licence retention bonuses that you pay to everybody?


MS. IRVINE:  No, I don't.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you find it out?  I mean, you must have it somewhere; right?


MS. IRVINE:  Well, it's part of, I think, chart F-3 in the -- where we talk about -- it's part of the average FTE cost, so I am sure we must have it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you could find that out for us?


MS. IRVINE:  Yes, because -- yes.  It is included under the incentive column in chart 3 on page 8 of my evidence.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, that is chart 3 of page 8 of what?


MS. IRVINE:  Of Exhibit F-3, tab 4, schedule 1.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you could give us that -- segregate that number for us?


MS. IRVINE:  Yes, I am sure we can find the whole number.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Could I have an undertaking number for that?


MR. BATTISTA:  That will be undertaking J8.17.

UNDERTAKING NO. J8.17:  TO PROVIDE LICENCE RETENTION BONUSES FOR 2008 AND 2009.


MR. PENNY:  This chart 3 is for the year end 2006.  What's the number you are looking for?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am looking for the test year -- actually, not the test year.  Let's just say 2008 and 2009.


MS. IRVINE:  Those would be projections, then.


MR. PENNY:  Those would be forecast numbers.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Of course, but you have a budget for that item?


MS. IRVINE:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, thank you.


The thing that I didn't understand about the licence retention bonus is my experience with private companies is that if you have to have a licence to do your job, it is a job requirement.  You might have a premium on your salary because only licensed people can get the job, but it's normally simply a job requirement.


It's not the case at Hydro?


MS. IRVINE:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Why is that?


MS. IRVINE:  Not the case for basic employment.  It is the case to hold a specific classification, but not for employment within the nuclear program.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So if a person who is in a licensed position loses their licence, they have to move to another job; right?


MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Presumably, they get -- aside from the licence retention bonus, presumably the other job won't necessarily have the same salary level?


MS. IRVINE:  I believe that we would -- the terms of collective agreement guarantee that they get the same salary without the licensing bonus.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So under the terms of your collective agreement, if a person whose job is to do a licensed activity, doesn't bother to keep their licence, you still have to pay them the same amount of money?


MS. IRVINE:  That's my understanding, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.


Now, that licence retention bonus -- wherever you have comparisons of OPG salary levels or compensation levels to the marketplace, et cetera, the licence retention bonus is not included, is it?


MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You have another amount called a leadership allowance?


MS. IRVINE:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Are you familiar with that?  That is 30 to 40 percent that is paid as sort of a shift premium for managers; right?


MS. IRVINE:  It covers off a myriad of things that we need to do with compensation for the first level manager above a unionized work force.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So this first level manager is a Society member or is the next level up?


MS. IRVINE:  No.  The next level up.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So basically the Society has these various things, and you can't promote somebody out of the Society and say, Oh, by the way, you don't get any of these perks anymore; is that right?


MS. IRVINE:  It is on that principle, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And that amount is typically 30 to 40 percent of their salary?


MS. IRVINE:  Depending on the position.  If you will bear with me, I can give you some detail.


The shift manager for an authorization training supervisor gets a 15 percent leadership allowance.  A shift manager who works days generally gets 35 percent, and a shift manager who is working shifts, swing shifts, gets 40 percent.


There is about 43 people that are covered off by those leadership allowances.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And then -- now, again, your compensation comparisons in the Towers Perrin report and the Mercer report, they don't include that allowance either, do they?


MS. IRVINE:  No, they don't.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you could look at the very helpful Energy Probe cross-examination document brief, and at page 7 of it, this is Exhibit K8.2, I think.  Is that right?

It's the Energy Probe cross-examination document brief.

MS. IRVINE:  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have that?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, I do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that page 7 is chart 9 from one of your other exhibits.  Do any of these people get a leadership allowance, the people on this list?

MS. IRVINE:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So the people who get leadership allowances were not included in the Towers Perrin analysis?

MS. IRVINE:  They may have been, but this chart is designed to show some of our unionized staff and how they compare.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is all the unionized?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.  Some of these would get the licence retention bonus?

MS. IRVINE:  No.  None of these jobs do either.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, okay.

Is there anywhere a comparison of your compensation levels that does include these additional amounts, leadership allowances and licence retention bonuses?

MS. IRVINE:  No, there isn't.  It's common and standard compensation practice to try and make the comparisons as close to apples to apples as possible, given the differences between time and when the data is collected, differences in the scope of jobs, et cetera, et cetera.

So we don't generally include awards or remuneration of this type.

We are aware that other nuclear operators do provide these kinds of incentives, but we don't benchmark them.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Just before I leave this chart 9, you had a discussion earlier with Mr. Rodger, I think, about where you are -– no, I guess it was Mr. Faye, with where you are relative to the benchmarks.

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  He was talking about whether you were below or above the 75 percent level and you said:  Well, yes, but you have to look at a 10 percent range around it.  Right?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if we look at the 10 percent range around it, is it correct that 13 of your -- these categories are within the range, 19 are above, and two are below?

MS. IRVINE:  I believe that's what we answered in our interrogatory on that subject.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And you have a strategy to fix that?

MS. IRVINE:  Sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Do you want to give us a brief summary of that strategy to get those 19 -- what is this, about 60 percent of your categories are more than 10 percent above the 75th percentile?  What's your strategy to get those below or within the range?

MS. IRVINE:  Well, first, let me just step back a little bit and answer the question that some may have with respect to where do we get plus or minus 10 percent.

I have mentioned that it's a standard compensation practice, but I should also point out that we do have documentation for that, as well.  Part of what Mr. Penny went through, when I was introduced, was that I was faculty and a member of World At Work.  And I actually teach the market pricing course and the data within the market pricing course, the textbook that I am given to teach from actually contains that practice within it, so it is a pretty long-established practice to use plus or minus 10 percent.

Now, with respect to what are we going to did with those over, I have noted that the occupations in chart 9 are in fact unionized, and of course, we would want to be collecting data and we would be approaching each round of bargaining with a view to try to bring things back into market range as far, as we can tell.

Keeping in mind that we do have relativities, we also have pushes in Ontario that aren't particularly revealed within the Towers Perrin survey, which is nationwide.

So taking all of those factors into account, and what we're able to do at bargaining, that's how we try and keep the lid on things.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I presume you have initiated discussions with the union about this problem?  Is that fair?  I don't want the details.  I just want to know whether you are taking action now.

MS. IRVINE:  We have taken action at every round of bargaining with respect to this issue.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

One of the things that you have indicated in some your evidence is that some of these additional bonuses and allowances are included in the pensionable amounts.  Is that right?

MS. IRVINE:  In some circumstances, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So for example, 10 percent, 10 points out of the leadership allowance is included in the pensionable earnings, right?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What is it, half of the licence retention bonus?

MS. IRVINE:  No.  Most of the licence retention bonus is pensionable.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Have you calculated at any point in time -- that's a little bit unusual, right?  It's not a standard practice to include those things in pensionable earnings, right?

MS. IRVINE:  Not in private practice, but it is our understanding with other nuclear operators that that is the case.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, so it is something unique to nuclear, but in the private sector, typically, those add-ons are not included in pensionable earnings, right?

MS. IRVINE:  Often.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Have you calculated at any point the cost of that, how much extra is it costing you in pension costs, associated with including those various, that various income in pensionable earnings?

In order to assess whether it is a good policy, presumably you had to figure out how much it was costing you, right?

MS. IRVINE:  I am sure that that was done at the time this was negotiated.

At this point in time, I don't think that we are doing current assessments of that cost, because we're not in a position not to pay it.  They would be included in our overall valuations of liabilities for pensions.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you give us a ballpark?  Is this a big number?

MS. IRVINE:  No, it's not that many people.  When you think about the 12,000 people within OPG, we're talking 43 get a leadership allowance and, you know, 148 or something get the authorization bonus.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it's not millions and millions of dollars?

MS. IRVINE:  I would not have posted it as that, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

I just have two brief questions on the Rudden study.  I've got about five or six more minutes.

The first is attached to School Energy Coalition number 56, that is, L-14-56.

Right at the end, the last two pages are called attachment 2.  Actually it's not quite -- it's the second-last and third-last pages; they're called attachment 2.

As I understand it, this tells us the allocation cost drivers for about $167 million of spending.  Is that right?

MR. STAINES:  How much was that again, sorry?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I think it is $167 million.

MR. STAINES:  Is that in the evidence?

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's right there on the attachment.  It has a total of $167 million, unless I am reading it wrong, second page, about a third of the way down.


MR. STAINES:  I'm sorry, can you repeat the question, please?


MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is a description of the allocators that you're using to allocate approximately $167 million of expenditures; correct?


MR. STAINES:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And if I understand this correctly, you've got -- near the top, you've got some allocators that are fairly straightforward, like head count, right, which are just external data, and then below you have -- some allocators are the percentages from another category; is that right?


MR. STAINES:  That's right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So, for example, you have an allocator CIO overhead.  Do you see that --


MR. STAINES:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- in some of those lines?  And that CIO overhead is actually made up of sort of a weighted average of allocators of how you allocate CIO overhead, right, separately?  Do I understand that correctly?


MR. STAINES:  I am just going to double-check that.


Yes, that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.


In the Rudden study -- you don't need to turn this up, I don't think.  I am looking for my reference here.


The Rudden study recommends that you improve your documentation of time estimation, doesn't it?  It's one of the Rudden recommendations?


MR. STAINES:  We approve -- sorry, I didn't hear that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That you improve your documentation of time estimation.  They in fact said you should have a template?


MR. STAINES:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And in Board Staff 59, your answer -- again, you don't need to turn it up, I am just asking a more general question, but you can if you want -- is now you don't like it that way.  You think it is better if you leave people to their own devices to figure out how they should estimate their time?


MR. STAINES:  We left it up to the individual corporate groups to decide on how they should allocate the time.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, of course Rudden's point was you want to be consistent if you want to have a good system.  How do you get consistency if you let everybody do whatever they want?


MR. STAINES:  We do take the information that is provided by all the corporate groups and do input it into what we consider consistent templates to do the allocation.


Rudden had indicated - and it's in IR L-1-59 - that they concluded that the direct assignment, of course, by specific identification and by estimations are based on -- are based on sufficient information reasonably applied.  So they felt that even though we did have different templates for the estimation, of course, the conclusion was they were reasonably applied.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me turn to my last area of questions, and that has to do with your capitalization policy.  You're the ones to answer that, right, questions on capitalization policy?


MR. HEARD:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I have two areas of questions on this.  They're both brief.


You changed your capitalization policy on January 1st, 2007, right, effective January 1st, 2007?


MR. HEARD:  Yes, we do.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The primary change in that, as I understand it, was to increase substantially the materiality thresholds for capitalization; is that true?


MR. BRYDON:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Your materiality thresholds are basically for gear, for equipment, $25,000 per item; right?


MR. BRYDON:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And for things like software, $200,000 per purchase; is that right?


MR. BRYDON:  That's correct.  There is a summary of our capitalization policy in Exhibit A-2, tab 2, schedule 1, beginning on page 4, section 4.1, and it carries over.


On page 6 of that, it does outline that the software is $200,000; correct?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I was a little surprised at those.  I have never seen numbers that big in a materiality threshold.


I take it it is true, for example, if you buy new telecom equipment or new computers or anything like that, for most routine purchases they're no longer capitalized, right, because most of the things you buy, most of the pieces of equipment you buy in the normal course of operating your business, except for the big stuff in the stations, is going to be under $25,000; right?  Is that generally true?


MR. BRYDON:  There are certainly things that are still capitalized within the limits that we have established.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Such as?  Let's take telecom equipment.  How often do you buy pieces of telecom equipment that cost more than $25,000 for a single item, because if you buy a whole network, each item in the network is a $25,000 limit; right?  That's what your policy says.


MR. BRYDON:  Yes, unless it was a system as a whole.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  How often do you buy pieces of telecom equipment that cost more than $25,000?


MR. BRYDON:  I am personally not familiar with the details and the turnover of the telecom equipment, but...


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the costs of this, has -- this change in the materiality thresholds has increased your OM&A by $6 million in each year, per year?


MR. BRYDON:  We have addressed the impact in -- first of all, in interrogatory L-14-36, we explained the change.  And what we explained in there was the -- how we changed and what the impacts were and that actually, over time, in fact what happens is it reduces the revenue or the rate base, and, thus, once we get through the transition period it would decrease the rate of return, because of a lower rate base.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  In the meantime, rates are higher, right?

MR. BRYDON:  In a transition period, because what we have is, under the old policy, there are items that are continued to be depreciated, and until such time as they're fully depreciated they're going to be in, and at the same time there's going to be items coming through the current expenditure levels, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What was the reason for this capitalization change?  Just give me the short answer.

MR. BRYDON:  Sorry, sir?

MR. SHEPHERD:  What was the reason for the change in the capitalization policy?

MR. BRYDON:  It was primarily driven for cost efficiencies and cost effectiveness in tracking low-value items.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It was too expensive to track a $150,000 piece of software.

MR. BRYDON:  No.  It was approximately in the change to 25 -- to 25,000 limit.  That was the change.  The 200,000 wasn't changed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The 200,000 was the previous number, as well?

MR. BRYDON:  As stated in the evidence at page 6 of 13, on A-2, tab 2.  It was the 25,000 materiality threshold.  Those thresholds were 10, 15 and 2000 and 2005 and 2006.  So those were the ones that changed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now the second area of capitalization policy that I want to ask about is this question you have, and you answered some questions from Mr. Warren this morning, with respect to the point at which, in a project, you start to capitalize costs.

As I understand it, that you have to not only make a go/no-go decision on the project, but you have to actually select which option you're going to go with before you start to capitalize anything.  Isn't that right?

MR. BRYDON:  Yes, the capitalization policy would ask for, when you reach a point where you've got a preferred alternative, that you can then -- it would then trigger capitalization.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you have to actually have decided to go ahead with it, isn't that right?  It's not while you're still thinking about it.

MR. BRYDON:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

So for example, all your costs, costs associated with exploring the Pickering B refurbishment, is that right now in OM&A?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. BRYDON:  It would be OM&A.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it correct that the effect of this 
-- the effect of waiting until a relatively late point in the process to start to treat costs as costs of the new generation, one of the effects of this is to reduce the average cost of generation from new facilities, and increase the average cost of generation from existing facilities?  Is that correct?

MR. BRYDON:  Sorry, you asked about costs related to new build?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. BRYDON:  I believe right now that the new build costs are being held in a variance account, but I think that would be a better question for the upcoming panel.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you don't have any costs associated with future generation projects in your OM&A currently?  The OM&A that you're asking the ratepayers to pay in this application.

MR. BRYDON:  That's my understanding, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Those are all of my questions.  Thank you.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Thompson.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks, Mr. Chairman.  I see it is 20 to five.  I am going to carry into tomorrow.  I am happy to start, but I wondered if it might make more sense to have Mr. Penny walk us through this undertaking response in the time available today and we would all understand it.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Let's do that.

MR. PENNY:  That's fine.  I will just ask Mr. Brydon to walk us through it, so that you know what has been done, what the various steps in the pages represent.

This was the undertaking, I think we have set it out at the outset, but this was the request to identify the assets and liabilities from the financial statements, the 2007 financial statements that are referred to in section 6 of the regulation.  And so what we have done is identified those portions of the audited financial statements that are relevant to the revenue requirement as it relates to sections 6.2.5 and 6.2.6.

MR. BRYDON:  So as attached to undertaking J2.7, the first -- the second page is a schedule, and that schedule is -– outlines, the heading's on the left, "reliance on audited financial statements".  It then has a 2007 column, "financial statement reference", a 2007 regulated amount, and then the column on the right are the exhibits within the evidence upon which these numbers relate.

If we go down the left-hand column, the first number:   "Income before interest and income taxes", that's a number that appears in note 18 of the 2007 financial statements.  There is an excerpt of note 18 attached also to the undertaking.  It's referred to in typed form as page 50.  It's circled as attachment 3.  It begins:  "Excerpt –-"

MR. PENNY:  Just for clarity on the page numbering, attachment 3 is some excerpts from the audited financial statements, which we took Mr. Rupert's suggestion and just wrote on some of those pages.  That is labelled as attachment 3, but then we have also hand-numbered those pages, 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5, so it is easier to find if reference is made to something there.

So, Mr. Brydon, you are on page 3.

MR. BRYDON:  Page 3 of the handwritten, yes.

MR. PENNY:  Thank you.

MR. BRYDON:  If we look at the first table, it is titled: "Segment loss income for the year ended December 31st, 2007."

If we look to the columns under "regulated", "nuclear" and "hydroelectric" and we look down, we see a loss income before interest and income taxes.  There are two amounts:  84 in brackets, and 249.  And that relates to the 165 that you see on the first line under "income".

If we stay with that same note, if we turn the page to handwritten page 4, we then have the fuelled inventory, and you will see that about a third of the way down the page under "nuclear", $231 million.

There are then materials and supplies, again, on that same note, which are under the short-term and long-term.  So there's an amount of 74.  That's the amount of the -- 73 and 1, and 346.Just above that 231 in the same table, again, the net book value, the fixed assets in-service, the 7901 is further up that page where we see "segment fixed assets, In-service, net".  The nuclear, 4030 and the hydroelectric, 3871 total to 7,901.

The 509 on the table, again, is on note 18 and it's just below, it is called "segment construction and progress" and it's the total of the 210 and 299.

So the next excerpt refers to the regulatory assets and liabilities.  I am referring to handwritten page 1 that is attached, attachment 3.  You will see "regulatory assets and liabilities".  Again, it is an excerpt, note 7 from the 2007 financial statements.  And the circled amounts, the 183, 131, the 28, the 7, the 5 and the 2 total the 356, and they're taken from that note.


Actually, while we're on that note, just for ease of reference, the very last number, the regulatory liabilities, the 14 is the 14 circled on that note, as well.


Note 9 of the financial statements is also an excerpt, and it's page 4, I believe -- or page 2, sorry.  So the amount of three-six-six-five -- you will see in note 9 there is an amount of 3665.  What that is is then we go to -- and explained in the notes that are also attached, note D referred to as "debt", so you will see the 3665 in 

note 9.


We then have the long-term debt due within one year.  That is 400.  That is also from the -- also note 9.  And what we have subtracted is the 230.  What that is is the $20 million that is related to an unregulated project, and 210 million that is also related to an unregulated project.


So the total there is the thirty-eight-thirty-five.


The 12 million and the 120 million deferred revenue due within one year in deferred revenue appears straight on the liability side of the balance sheet.  I believe that covers all of those -- all of the values that appear on that schedule.


MR. PENNY:  And then there's several pages of it, so I don't think it is useful just to try and read through it now, but perhaps you could just explain conceptually.


You've got the column "reference", and then A, B, C, F, D, E and so on.


As I understand it, that relates -- there is then -- there is an explanation provided in the typed notes, which is attachment 2 to -- that goes along with each one of these entries.


MR. BRYDON:  That's correct, Mr. Penny.  Thank you.


MR. RUPERT:  Mr. Brydon, let me just ask a question about the, I guess, deferral and variance accounts, the regulatory assets.


Is it the company's position that the regulation is intended to say that not only is the number to be accepted, but that whatever basis of calculation, and sometimes indeed even interpretation, the company might have taken in determining the numbers to put into those variance accounts, that also is something that is off the table in this thing?


So, for example, the -- I think Mr. Long spoke about this earlier.  There's a variance account, deferral account, whatever, nuclear liabilities deferral account, which does require -- it doesn't lay out the nice formula to fill numbers in.  It does require some degree of interpretation, that by having the number $131 million in the 2007 financial statements, that means that that number and, of course, the exact way in which it was calculated by the company is not subject to oversight by this proceeding.  Is that the company's interpretation?


MR. BRYDON:  That would support Mr. Long's testimony in that area, yes.


MR. KAISER:  Any questions on this particular document, Mr. Thompson?


MR. THOMPSON:  I may have a couple tomorrow, but I don't have any right now.


MR. KAISER:  You would prefer to start tomorrow?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, I would, if that's possible.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  9:30 tomorrow.


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:52 p.m. 
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